
1 
 

 

                                           
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE HOUSING SPC 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, DAME STREET, DUBLIN 2. 

 
ON FRIDAY, 14 OCTOBER 2016 AT 3.00 PM 

 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

FRIDAY, 14 OCTOBER 2016 
 

  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of meeting dated 22nd September 2016 and matters arising   

 
1 - 8 

2   Chairperson's Business: 
 

 Update on Sub-Groups 

 Update on 2016 Action Plan of Dublin City Local Economic and 
Community Plan 2016-2021 

 

 

3   Homeless Update   
 

9 - 12 

4   Housing Programme Report   
 

13 - 34 

5   Housing with Supports for Older People   
 

35 - 80 

6   Motion in the name of Cllr. Alison Gilliland: 
 
“That Dublin City Council immediately conduct an assessment of the Derelict Site 
Register to identify possible housing units that may be suitable for the recently 
announced "Repair and Lease' Scheme.” 

 

 

7   AOB    



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HOUSING STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

 

THURSDAY 22ND
 SEPTEMBER 2016  

 
MINUTES 

 
The Chair advised of “countdown” system that will be used during contributions from the 
Housing SPC members and other Councillors at this and future Housing SPC meetings.  He 
also welcomed Brendan Kenny, Assistant Chief Executive to Housing & Community Services 
and wished Dick Brady, Assistant Chief Executive well in Environment & Transportation.   
 
 

1. Minutes of meetings dated 22nd June and 29th July 2016 and matters 
arising: 

 
Noted with no matters arising.  
 
Agreed: Minutes of meetings dated 22

nd
 June and 29

th
 July 2016 noted.  

 
 

2. Chairperson’s Business: 
 

 Update on Sub-Groups: 
 Housing Stock Standards 

Cllr Janice Boylan advised that the sub-group have not met recently and requested another 
meeting. 

 Data Protection 
Cllr Pat Dunne advised that meeting requested with the Office of the Data Protection 
Commissioner was declined.  He said that a final meeting of the sub-group would be arranged 
before the next Housing SPC.   

 Study on Social Integration/Tenure Diversity 
Initial meeting of sub-group to be arranged.  
 
Agreed: Housing SPC members wishing to be part of the sub-group re: Study on Social 
Integration/Tenure Diversity to register their interest with the Manager.  
 

 Update on 2016 Action Plan of Dublin City Local Economic and 
Community Plan 2016-2021 

Circulated to members. 

 
 

3. Homeless Update: 
Statistics for Quarter 2 2016 regarding Homeless families and Homeless Accommodation Use 
and Breakdown of Emergency Accommodation Usage, which is also submitted to Department 
of Housing, Planning & Local Government, were circulated prior to the meeting.  Dáithí 
Downey, A/Director of Dublin Region Homeless Executive (DRHE) went through trend 
analysis and discussed Housing First and Housing Assistance Payment (HAP).   
 
Cllr Christy Burke said that facilities are needed for rehabilitation and aftercare.  He 
commended Homeless services provided but said he was ashamed of the increase in families 
in hotels and rough sleepers.  Cllr Alison Gilliand said a long term plan is needed for persons 
with addiction and mental health issues.  She asked if the One-Stop-Shop at Parkgate Street, 
discussed at pervious meeting, is up and running and asked if supply team is set up.  She 
asked if Threshold are putting private renters who receive notice-to-quit from their landlords in 

Page 1



touch with HAP.  She also asked if DCC can advertise for landlords who will take HAP 
payments.  Cllr Noeleen Reilly asked if the targets set down in Minister Coveney’s Action Plan 
for Housing and Homelessness are realistic with regard to projected decrease in those 
accessing Emergency Accommodation by 2017 and asked for more information and views 
here.  Cllr Pat Dunne said there are many persons and families experiencing homelessness 
who are not registered.  He said more needs to be done to help families stay out of 
homelessness.   
 
Dáithi Downey said that services in Parkgate Street have been build up over the years.  He 
advised that there is an informal referral in place with Threshold.  He said that landlords’ 
attitudes to HAP are changing.  Over 560 households who were formally homeless are now in 
secure private rented accommodation thorough HAP.  He also advised that DCC will be HAP 
provider from 2017.  He said DRHE are working with the Private Rented Tenancy Board 
(PRTB) to raise public awareness regarding good practice, advice and interventions.  There 
are challenges to delivery of Rapid Build, Housing First and HAP as set out under Pillar 1 of 
Rebuilding Ireland but welcomed the housing led approach.  Outreach services are available 
with daily respite and drop-in services.  
 
Aideen Hayden advised that the Threshold Public Awareness Campaign is having an impact 
on keeping people in their homes.  Rent increases and landlords looking for vacant 
possession for sale are an issue.   
 
Agreed: Reports noted 

 
 

4. Housing Programme Report: 
Monthly Housing Programme Report circulated to members prior to meeting.  The Chair 
advised that as agreed a Monthly Housing Report is to issue to City Council and monthly 
meetings of the Housing SPC for discussion.   
 
Tony Flynn, Executive Manager went through Report.  He outlined the framework, 
procurement requirements and process involved.  Current revenue under Social Housing 
Investment Programme (SHIP) and acquisitions through social leasing, RAS and HAP 
schemes were also outlined.  Contractors for Rapid Build units at Cherry Orchard, Belcamp 
and Mourne Road will be on site early October 2016. With a target of 1,700 units to be 
delivered nationally by end of 2018 the City Architects are working on framework for 
architectural services regarding volumetric build.   
 
All present thanked Tony Flynn for the presentation.  The Chair asked that a Housing 
representative be made available at Area Committee Meeting to provide updates on the 
Housing Programme.  He said the Rapid Build units at Poppintree came in under budget and 
that fencing went up at Cherryorchard to secure the site.  He asked if more sites have been 
identified for Rapid Build units, and if so where are they.   
 
Cllr Cieran Perry asked for a breakdown of funding allocations between SHIP and SCHP.  He 
asked if general acquisitions apply to buybacks, and if so why are there so few.  Are other 
sites being looked at for Rapid Build?  Are all Part V units included in Report, or just big 
schemes?  He enquired if Infirmary Road is gone out to tender, or if it is on hold because of 
plans at O’Devaney Gardens.  Cllr Janice Boylan advised that Infirmary Road site is not out to 
tender and is separate to plans for O’Devaney Gardens.  She asked when remaining blocks 
at O’Devaney Gardens will be demolished.  Cllr Tina MacVeigh asked where new sites for 
Rapid Build units are.  She said that the Housing Finance Agency (HFA) and the Housing 
SPC need to explore funding options.  She also asked about contaminated lands at St. 
Teresa’s Gardens and the potential extra costs and delay that this may cause.  Cllr Christy 
Burke said that there will be 22 units at Castleforbes.  He asked for details at Richmond.  
Delay at North King Street and date for demolition at O’Devaney Gardens.  Cllr Pat Dunne 
asked if funding allocation of €292m has been provided.  He enquired about detenanting at 
St. Catherine’s Gate, currently used for emergency accommodation and asked what future 
allocations policy here is.  Cllr Anthony Connaghan asked about DCC lands at Scribblestown 
and what Cllr involvement and consultation with residents there has been here. He asked if 

Page 2



anything is happening at Rathvilly/Virgina site as it has been vacant for years.  He also asked 
about plans for Tolka Valley site.  Cllr Paul Hand requested a representative from the Housing 
Department be invited to Area Committee meetings.  He also asked about St. Teresa’s 
Gardens and asked if 50 units to be built here are going ahead.  Lillian Buchanan asked 
about mainstreaming accommodation of persons with disabilities.  DCC Housing Disability 
Steering Group should be involved at pre-planning stage to factor in needs at design stage.  
Aideen Hayden requested a breakdown of how many units provided by AHBS are for general 
need and how many are for specific need.  She also enquired if Buy-back and Financial 
Contribution Schemes are DCC policy.  Cllr Ray McAdam asked about BER regulations at 
new build at North King Street. He also enquired about start date for works at Infirmary Road.  
Cllr Sonya Stapelton asked about progress on sties at Moss Street and Townsend Street.  
She also asked about detenanting at Bethany House and if residents here have been moved 
out, and if so where have they gone.   
 
Tony Flynn advised that a representative from the Housing Department will be in attendance 
at Area Committee Meetings.  He said that DCC are only aware of Rapid Build sites in DCC 
administrative area and DCC owned sites were selected as outlined in citeria in previous 
Reports to Housing SPC.  General acquisitions this year are for 100 units, with funding for 
same.   He advised DCC policy on buybacks has been suspended.   Figures for Part Vs are 
those that have been agreed with developers.  Part Vs in pre-planning applications have not 
been included in figures as these units have not been agreed.  He advised that a feasibility 
study was carried out for 30 units at Infirmary Road, which has been submitted to the 
Department of Housing, Planning & Local Government and agreed with approval to appoint a 
design team.  He felt that the Department would not support a reduction of units here to 9 and 
said that Part 8 will commence in 2017 regarding delivery of 30 units.  He said that the City 
needs as many units as possible to get to design and Part 8 stage as soon as possible.  
Architectural and Engineering Team will be on stream in coming months.  Contaminated 
lands at St. Teresa’s Gardens will need to be re-tendered, which will cause delays and extra 
costs here.  Met Castleforbes will hopefully have units here in 2017.  Funding allocation of 
€830m requested to support delivery of Housing Programme.  Cluid have acquired units at St. 
Catherine’s Gate and they will be made available under general lettings needs.  Tony Flynn 
advised that he is a member of the Project Board for Scribblestown site.  There is work to be 
done on this site and any development has to be viable and sustainable.  Regarding Tolka 
Valley site Tony Flynn advised that DCC would like to see a mix of private/affordable housing 
and social housing units here.  He advised that it is intended that 50 units at St. Teresa’s 
Gardens will be built at this time.  He advised of the DCC Housing Disability Steering Group, 
which informs the Housing Programme to meet the needs of persons with disabilities.  He 
commended the work of Cormac O’Donnell, Project Manager and the members of the 
Steering Group.  The Financial Contribution Scheme is in place, however the list of applicants 
is long and there is a shortage of suitable available units.  With regard to Moss Street there 
are 2 options here; either refurbishment or demolish and start again.  Engineering Report 
carried out at site concludes that refurbishment will be costly.  Discussions held with adjoining 
landowner who propose to submit Planning Permission for offices and hotels and will include 
scheme at Moss Street.  Peter McVerry Trust have plans to refurbish Townsend Street, it was 
noted that there are conservation issues here.  Residents at Bethany House are being 
relocated by Cluid on an ongoing basis.  
 
Agreed: Forward on flowchart outlining Capital Works Management Framework Stage 
process for Social Housing Capital Projects 
Agreed; Tony Flynn to forward on date for demolition of last blocks at O’Devaney Gardens 
Agreed:  Invite HFA to future meeting of Housing SPC 
Agreed: Report noted 
 
 

5. Land Initiative Report: 
Housing Land Initiative Feasibility Update circulated prior to the meeting.  Tony Flynn, 
Executive Manager went through Report.  In context of Report adopted by Councillors in 
January 2016 there is provision for 30% social housing on each site.  DCC officials met with 
local residents and are to revert back with detailed response and traffic audit when complete. 
Report ready for St. Michael’s Estate.  There has been significant development at this site; 

Page 3



e.g. Thornton Heights and HSE Primary Care Centre at Richmond Barracks, although lands 
remain for development.  Phasing of development here broken down.  Have indicative 
drawings for 52 Senior Citizen units at Site 1B, which meets citeria for Ageing Well Policy.  
Need clarity from Councillors regarding full scheme at O’Devaney Gardens and welcomes 
debate here.   
 
Cllr Paul Hand said that community facilities are needed at St. Michael’s Estate site and he 
asked if Dublin Bikes scheme will be considered here.  He requested that details of plan are 
sent to Kilmainham/Inchicore Alliance.  
 
The Chair asked about provision of park at O’Devaney Gardens, which is included in the City 
Development Plan but not the Land Initiative.  He asked that this be revisited.   
 
Cllr Pat Dunne welcomed development of Senior Citizen Accommodation at St. Michael’s 
Estate and said that these units should not be included in the 30% social housing provision on 
the site.  He asked if the Masterplan here needs to go out for public consultation.  He also 
disagreed with mixed tenure on sites and said that affordable units are needed, rather than 
private housing.  Cllr John Lyons requested that meeting be held with other residents groups 
around Oscar Traynor lands.  Cllr Críona Ní Dhálaigh said she is delighted with provision of 
Senior Citizen units at St. Michael’s Estate and asked if wraparound supports will be provided 
here.  Cllr Elis Ryan asked about cost rental scheme.  Cllr Norma Sammon asked about 
drainage issues at Oscar Traynor site and asked if there will be design implications as a 
result.  She also asked for more detail on Pathfinders.  Cllr Greg Kelly requested full Report 
on St. Michael’s Estate.  He enquired if plans here include provision for a supermarket and 
asked about a Civic Centre for Inchicore.  He also asked for details of a public park and car-
parking facilities here.   
 
Jim Keogan, Assistant Chief Executive Planning & Property Development Department 
advised that meeting with Oscar Traynor Land Action Group was convened by local residents 
groups.  Consultation is ongoing and meetings can be held with any other groups that request 
them.  Discussions are ongoing regarding Pathfinders sites.   There is an existing sewer at 
Oscar Traynor site, however it is a minor engineering issue that will not impact on delivery or 
design of site here.  Tony Flynn advised that Senior Citizen units at St. Michaels Estate will 
form part of the overall 30% provision of social housing on this site.  He also advised that mix 
of tenure on site is at the discretion of the members, but any decision needs support from 
Department of Housing, Planning & Local Government. He said that there is an opportunity to 
build into surrounding areas of Kilmainham/Inchicore on the foot of plans at St. Michael’s and 
for provision of facilities that will be of economic benefit to the area. There is a submission in 
with the Department for the deep retro-fit of Tyrone Place.  He advised that if DCC can 
identify suitable locations for Pathfinders sites for Homeless funding and provision of 
resources will be provided by Government.   

 
Agreed: Circulate Traffic Audit at Oscar Traynor lands when complete.  
Agreed: Report noted 

 
 

6. Traveller Accommodation Update: 
Report circulated to members prior to meeting. 
 
Agreed: Report noted 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7. Motions 

Page 4



Motion Cllr Patrick Costello: 

That the management agree that all housing development by Dublin city council, 
including those built by tender, Public Private Partnership or other such arrangement 
will be of passive house standard or equivalent. 

This motion aims to have Dublin city council follow international best practice in 
aiming for passive house standard or equivalent in new buildings. One international 
example is Exeter City Council, who at no extra cost procured passive house standard 
social housing with 90% energy savings for residents. This energy efficiency ended 
fuel poverty among residents and, due to these cost savings to residents, reduced rent 
arrears. 

Ali Grehan, City Architect said that there is an obligation under EU legislation to have 0% 
energy public buildings by 2018.  Codema, Dublin’s Energy Agency advise DCC regarding 
Energy Action Plan.  She also advised that buildings been commissioned now are designed 
to 0% energy building regulations.   
 
Put to a vote.  7 Housing SPC members present in the Council Chamber at the time of voting 
and all voted in favour of the Motion.  The Motion was carried. 
 
Agreed:  Motion from Cllr Patrick Costello was put to a vote. 7 Housing SPC members 
present voted in favour.  The Motion was carried.  

 
 
Motion to the Housing SPC from the Special Committee on Waste Regulations in the 
names of Cllrs: Mannix Flynn, Eilis Ryan, Claire Byrne, Ray McAdam, Criona 
NiDhalaigh, Mary Freehill, Gaye Fagan, Paul McAuliffe; Tina MacVeigh: 
In light of the fact that in Dublin City Council flat complexes: 
- residents report that the waste services provided do not allow for waste segregation; 
- open receptacles attract vermin and that receptacles are often used by non-residents 
to illegally dump waste; 
- we as a Local Authority are not compliant with regulations that provide for waste 
segregation; 
- the Council is currently reviewing tenders for waste collection providers in the flat 
complexes; 
 
This Housing SPC calls on our Housing Department to conduct a residents survey of 
waste segregation and collection requirements in the flat complexes with a view to 
including the outcome of these surveys in the ongoing review of waste collection 
tenders and contracts awarded. 
 

Cllr Janice Boylan said she supports this Motion.  No provision for segregation of waste in flat 
complexes and chutes are often broken and dirty.  Cllr Mannix Flynn said that waste is a 
serious issue with dumping from outside taking place in flat complexes.  
 
The Manager agreed that the waste situation in flat complexes is a serious issue and advised 
that Housing Maintenance are going out to contact regarding waste  
 

Put to a vote.  7 Housing SPC members present in the Council Chamber at the time of voting 
and all voted in favour of the Motion.  The Motion was carried. 
 
Agreed:  Motion from Special Committee on Waste Regulations was put to a vote. 7 Housing 
SPC members present voted in favour.  The Motion was carried.  
 

 

 

Motion in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland: 

Page 5



That DCC extend the right to be assessed for the Housing Assistance Payment to 
those persons on priority bands on the housing lists (Medical, welfare, exceptional 
social circumstances, vulnerable and over-crowding) in order to provide alleviation to 
their waiting times, if they so wish.  
Order: Refer to Housing SPC for discussion 
 
The Chair advised that Cllr Alison Gilliand was happy that Motion was discussed at meeting.  

 

 

Motion in the name of Cllr Anthony Connaghan: 
That Dublin City Council exhaust all efforts to acquire any vacant houses/units in the 
DCC area. The last  
census shows that Dublin (overall) has over 36000 vacant dwellings. Dublin City 
Council should also CPO  
houses or sites which are left derelict for a significant period of time.  
Can the Manager say how many houses or sites DCC have CPO'd in the last 10 years, if 
any? And if we haven't can he explain why? 
 
Tony Flynn advised that the Active Land Management Group in the Development Department 
is carrying out an assessment of vacant units and lands in the City.  Housing & Community 
Services were asked if they are interested in any of these properties with a view to 
purchasing, refurbishing and letting to persons on the Housing List.  A pilot project with10 of 
these units will be undertaken to see if this will work.    The Manager said that the CPO 
process is slow.  He advised that the Housing Agency are currently looking at vacant 
dwellings. 
 
 

Motion Cllr Ray McHugh: 
This Housing SPC agree to set up a cross party group of the Housing  SPC committee, 
to examine  the housing allocation system that seems to force applicants to remain in 
overcrowding or go into over crowding  situations ,for fear of loosing  their position on 
the housing waiting list. Also to look at the the situation where Dublin City Elected 
Councillors, have little or no information pertaining to the allocation of tenancy's.  And 
to report back to  a Dublin City Council Meeting as soon as possible with 
recommendations to  a change in the scheme of lettings. 

 
Cllr Críona Ní Dhálaigh said that the change in Allocations policy from points to time on list 
was to prevent situations like this and she queried how this could have happened.   
 
The Chair said that problem is systematic of the housing crisis.  There are different lists within 
the banding system but there is a lack of accommodation available.  He asked for a Report to 
be issued to the Housing SPC.  Existing Sub-group re: Data Protection addresses the last 
part of the Motion.   
 
Agreed:  Report to issue to future meeting of the Housing SPC. 
 
 

8. AOB 
The Manager said there are too many sub-groups and he requested that any future sub-
groups meet 2/3 times at most and come back to the Housing SPC with Report.   
 
Cllr Janice Boylan requested an update on policy regarding anti-social behaviour be 
presented at a future meeting of the Housing SPC and asked that Mick Clarke, Manager Anti-
Social Policy Unit be invited to outline procedure here.  Cllr Críona Ní Dhálaigh said that no 
funding has being allocated yet through the Social Fund to St. Teresa’s Gardens.  She 
acknowledged that this funding is allocated through the Department now but said that delays 
here are causing huge implications on projects.   
 
Tony Flynn said that DCC have contacted the Department regarding Social Fund and advised 
that it may be the end of the year before funding is allocated.  Will follow up.   

Page 6



 
Cllr Mannix Flynn asked for a report on the use of late-night café at Merchants Quay.  He 
requested that ‘public housing’ be used instead of ‘social housing’.  He also requested a 
Report on Air B&B. 
 
Agreed: Report on Anti-Social Behaviour Policy to a future meeting of the Housing SPC 
Agreed: Report on Air B&B to a future meeting of Housing SPC. 
 
 
In Attendance: 
 
Councillors:  
Chris Andrews, Janice Boylan, Christy Burke, Anthony Connaghan, David Costello, Patrick 
Costello, Daithí Doolan, Pat Dunne, Gary Gannon, Alison Gilliland, Tina MacVeigh, Ray 
McAdam, Críona Ní Dhálaigh, Cieran Perry, Norma Sammon, Sonya Stapelton 
 
Sectoral Interests:  
Lillian Buchanan, Aideen Hayden, Kathleen McKillion, Kevin White 
 
Officials:  
Brendan Kenny, Tony Flynn, Ali Grehan, Dáithí Doolan, Dymphna Farrell, Jim Keogan, Alana 
Dunne, Elaine O’Kelly  
 
Other Councillors: 
Noleen Reilly, Greg Kelly, Paul Hand, John Lyons, Elis Ryan, Mannix Flynn, Ray McHugh 
 
Others: 
Michelle McCullogh (Dublin Simon in place of Catherine Kenny) 
 
Apologies: 
Pat Doyle, Catherine Kenny,  
 
Councillor Daithí Doolan  
CHAIRPERSON 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

Breakdown of Emergency Accommodation Usage between September 19th – September 

25th, 2016 in the Dublin Region 

An anonymised and aggregated return of all individuals accessing homeless accommodation 

between September 19th – September 25th, 2016, inclusive, has been requested by the Department 

of the Housing, Planning, Community and Local Government by close of business on Wednesday 5th 

October, 2016.  The following information has been requested: 

1.) Gender 

2.) Age group (as per CSO)  

3.) Accommodation type 

4.) County 

5.) Family Breakdown  

 

Table 1: Gender: September 19th to September 25th, 2016 

Gender 
 

Total September 2016 

Male 
 

1,612 

Female 
 

1,376 

Total 2,988 

 

Table 2: Age Groups: September 19th to September 25th, 2016 

Age Group 
 

Total September 2016 

18-24 
 

501 

25-44 
 

1,864 

45-64 
 

583 

65+ 
 

40 

Total 
 

2,988 

Page 9



2 
 

 

Table 3: Accommodation Type: September 19th to September 25th, 2016 

Accommodation Type 
 

Total September 2016 

Private Emergency Accommodation (Including 
hotels) (PEA) 

1,624 

Supported Temporary Accommodation (STA) 1,308 

Temporary Emergency Accommodation (low 
support)(TEA) 71 

Subtotal 3,003 

- Minus people accessing multiple 
accommodation types during the 
week 

15 

Total Unique Individuals 
 

2,988 

 
 
 
 

Table 4: County: September 19th to September 25th, 2016 

County 
 

Total September 2016 

 
Dublin 2,988 

 
Total 

 
2,988 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 10



3 
 

 

 

Table 5 (a): Families with dependent children in ALL Emergency Accommodation (incl. Hotels) – 

September 19th to September 25th, 2016 

Family Breakdown No. of families with 

dependent children 

No. of 

Individual 

Adults 

No. of 

Dependents 

Individuals with dependent 

children 671 671 1258 

Couples with dependent 

children 343 686 807 

Total 1014 1357 2065 

 

 

 

Table 5 (b): Families with dependent children in Commercial Hotels Only: 22 September, 2016 
(Single Night) 

Family Breakdown No. of families with 

dependent children 

No. of 

Individual 

Adults 

No. of 

Dependents 

Individuals with dependent 

children 436 436 814 

Couples with dependent 

children 240 480 566 

 

Total 676 916 1380 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



4 
 

 

Table 5 (c): Families with dependent children in Commercial Hotels Only:  

September 19th to September 25th, 2016 (One week) 
 Family Breakdown No. of families 

with 
dependent 
children 

No. of 
Individual 
Adults 

No. of 
Dependents 

Individuals with dependent children 

504 504 939 

Couples with dependent children 
256 512 609 

 
Total 760 1016 1548 

 

 

 

Page 12



 

1 

 

Dublin City Council Housing Programme Monthly Report 

October 2016  

Dublin City Council Targets under Social Housing Strategy for 2015-2017: 3347 Units 

Capital Programme Target is 1498 units under the Social Housing Investment Programme (SHIP) 

 Current Programme Target is 1849 units under the Social Housing Current Expenditure Programme (SHCEP) 

 

 2015 To 30th September 2016 

Units Completed  to date 565 332 

Voids turned round to date 1012 713 

HAP Tenancies 112 (Dublin Region) 561 (Dublin Region) 

Outturn 1689 1606 

 

   

P
age 13



 

2 

 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Total 

Outturn 1689 1606     3295 

Units under construction  

Units currently being acquired 

 63 

258 

338 

15 

 

97 

  401 

370 

Part V  25 26    51 

Units at Tender Stage  0 19 194   213 

Capital Appraisals Submitted to 

Department 

 64 48 318 200  630 

Units at Preliminary 

Planning/Design 

 19 41 266 399 105 830 

Potential Units from Vacant 

Council Lands 

     500 500 

Sites for Social housing PPP 

Bundle 1 

     200 200 

Projected Acquisitions   100 100 100  300 

Rapid Home Delivery   201 100   301 

Total 1689 2035 788 1075 699 805 7091 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 14



 

3 

 

Schemes completed to date in 2016 – Department of Housing, Planning, Community and Local 

Government (DHPCLG) Capital Works Management Framework (CWMF) Stage 4 

Committee 

Area/ Housing 

Category 

Provider Schemes Funding 

Programme 

No of Units 

South East / 

General Needs 

Dublin City Council 

 

Maxwell Road, D6 Regeneration 9 

North West 

/Special Needs 

Dublin City Council 

 

Rapid Home Delivery - Poppintree LA housing 22 

South East 

/General Needs 

Dublin City Council 

SE. GN 

Crampton Buildings Remedial Works 28 

General Needs Dublin City Council. General Acquisitions LA housing 101 

General 

Needs/Special 

Needs 

Dublin City Council 

 

RAS Agreements and Leasing 

Arrangements 

RAS/SHCEP 40 

General Needs Dublin City Council RAS Acquisitions RAS Capital Reserve 10 

North West 

/Special Needs 

Fold Housing Association 

 

Ballygall Road Phase 2, Dublin 11 CALF & Leasing 11 

South Central / 

General Needs 

Tuath 

 

An Riasc CALF & Leasing 14 

P
age 15



 

4 

 

North Central / 

General Needs 

Tuath                                  Thornwood, Beaumont, Dublin 9 Phase 

1,2, 3, 4 and 5 

CALF & Leasing 46 

North Central / 

Special Needs 

Co-Operative Housing 

Ireland 

 

Merville Court, Fairview, Dublin 3 CALF & Leasing 10 

Central/South 
Central/ South 
East – General 
Needs 

Various AHBs 

 

Various addresses CALF & Leasing 10 

North West Various AHBs  

 

Various addresses CALF & Leasing 

(Congregated Settings 

2 

South East - 
Special Needs 

Peter McVerry Trust 

 

Various addresses  Leasing 18 

Central, South 
Central – Special 
Needs 

HAIL 

 

Various addresses CAS 11 

 Total   332 

 

  

P
age 16



 

5 

 

 Schemes Under Construction – DHPCLG CWMF Stage 4   

Committee 

Area/ 

Housing 

Category 

Provider Schemes  Funding Programme No of 

Units 

Status Next Milestone Expected 

Completion 

Date 

North Central 

– General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Buttercup Darndale, D 17 

 

LA Housing 35 Under Construction Under Construction.                        

Phase 1 completion (6 units) 

Q4  2016 

North Central 

– General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Priory Hall, D 13 

 

LA Housing 35 (180) Under Construction.   Phases 1-

5 (Blocks 1 – 7) complete. 

Approval to proceed to tender 

for Phase 6 (blocks 8 – 20) 

1. Launch of New Priory units 

(Blocks 1-7)   

2. Phase 6 (Blocks 8-20) to be 

tendered Oct 2016. 

Q3 2016 

 

Q4 2017 

South East – 

General Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Charlemont (BI 3) Dublin 2 

 

PPP 79  Development Agreement 

signed with Developer 14th Dec 

2015. Contractor on site 

Handover of units Q3 - 2017 

South Central 

– General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Dolphin House, D8 Phase 1 

 

Regeneration 100 Tender for the main contract 

prepared.  Approved 8/4/2016.  

Tenders issued 11/4/2016  

Tenders returned 25
th

 May –

sent to DECLG 29/06/16.  A 

revised capital appraisal sent to 

DECLG. Approval received to 

appoint selected contractor.  

Contract signing 23
rd

 

September, 2016. 

1. Contractor on Site 
2.  Phase 2 design to be developed 

 

Q4 - 2017 

P
age 17



 

6 

 

Demolitions complete.  

South East – 

Special Needs 

AHB Harolds Cross D6 (Focus) 

 

CALF & Leasing 28 On site November 2015. 

Department approved revised 

funding. Allocations of units in 

progress 

Completion of works.  Q4  2016 

South Central 

– Special 

Needs 

AHB Annamore Court  (Canon 

Troy) D10 (The Iveagh 

Trust) 

 

CALF & Leasing 70 DCC property. On  site 

November 2015  

Completion of works Q3  2017 

North West – 

Special Needs 

AHB Broome Lodge (Dunmanus) 

D. 7 (Cluid) 

 

2014 CAS (10 units)  & 

CALF and Leasing (33 

units) 

43  DCC site. Contractor started on 

site 7
th

 March 2016.  CAS charge 

will be on 10 identified units.  

HFA funding approved on 

3/3/16. 

Completion of works Q2 2017 

Central 

Special Needs 

AHB St. Agathas Court (Peter 

McVerry Trust) 

 

2014 CAS 11  DCC property. Department 

issued revised budget approval.   

On site.  

Completion of works 2017 

 Sub total   401    

 

 

 

 

P
age 18



 

7 

 

 Units Currently Being Acquired – DHPCLG CWMF Stage 4   

Committee 

Area/ 

Housing 

Category 

Provider Schemes  Funding 

Programme 

No of 

Units 

Status Next Milestone Expected 

Completion 

Date 

 Dublin City 

Council 

General Acquisitions 

 

LA Housing 

(Acquisitions) 

82 With Law Department Closing of Acquisitions ongoing 2016 

North West – 

General 

Needs 

AHB An Riasc, Farnham Drive, 

Finglas, Dublin 11 (Tuath) 

 

CALF & Leasing 35 1
st

 and 2
nd

 phase complete (14 units). 

Phase 3 to complete October,  

1
st

 and 2
nd

 phase complete.  Phases 3, 

4 & 5 to be acquired Q4 2016 

Q4 2016 

South Central 

– Special 

Needs 

AHB Armagh Road D 12 (FOLD) 

 

CALF & Leasing 97 Approved for CALF & Leasing Contractor to commence on site Nov 

2016 

Q1 2018 

North West – 

General 

Needs 

AHB Thornwood, Beaumont, 

Dublin 9 (Tuath) 

 

CALF & Leasing 22 Approved by Department for CALF & 

Leasing March 2016 

Phases 7 to 9 to be acquired  Q4 2016 

North 

Central-

General 

Needs 

AHB St. Pauls Court, Ard na 

Greine, Dublin 13 (Co-

Operative Housing 

Ireland) 

CALF & Leasing 11 Approved by Department June 2016.  

Some units still tenanted, resolution 

to be found re these units 

to be acquired Q1 2017 

Central-

General 

Needs 

AHB Castleforbes Square 

(Tuath)  

CALF & Leasing 21 Contracts stage (this is separate to 

DCC acquisition).  Revised funding 

approved by Department 

to be acquired Q4 2016 

P
age 19



 

8 

 

South 

Central-

General 

Needs 

AHB James Street (Cluid) 

 

CALF & Leasing 

(NAMA) 

12 For RAS exit list allocation. AHB 

preparing planning application. 

Approved by Department January 

2016.  Planning permission granted 

30/05/2016.  Contractor went on  

site 8/8/16. 

Units to be completed Q4 2016 

Central-

General 

Needs 

AHB Merville Ave (Co-

operative Housing 

Ireland ) 

CALF & Leasing 5 Units to be acquired from developer DECLG issued approval 03/05/2016 2017 

Central AHB Various Addresses  CALF & Leasing 10 Approved by Department  to be acquired Q4 2016 

Various AHB Various Addresses Leasing  3 Approved by Department Finalise Lease Q4 2016 

Central – 

Special Needs 

AHB Sherrard St, Dublin 1 

(PMcVT)  

Leasing 17 Approved by Department July 2016 Lease to be finalised with owner 2016 

South Central 

General 

Needs & 

Special Needs 

AHB Prior Hall, Bow Lane, 

Dublin 8 (Tuath) 

Leasing 19 Approved by Department under 
Leasing. Allocations of units in 
progress 

Tuath to enter into Lease 
arrangements with Landlord  

Q4 2016 

Central 

General 

Needs  

DCC Liffey Trust, Dublin 1 (DCC) 

 

Leasing 10 Department have approved proposal Authorisation finalised with 

Department, progressing with 

completing agreements.  To be 

delivered as units become vacant   

 

 

 

2017 

P
age 20



 

9 

 

All areas – 

Special Needs 

AHB Various Addresses CAS 26 Acquisition approved by DCC Legal documentation to be completed 2016 

 Sub –total   370    

 GRAND TOTAL Units under construction 

or being acquired 

 771    

 
 
 
 

Part V 
 

Committee 

Area/ 

Housing 

Category 

Provider Schemes  Funding 

Programme 

No of 

Units 

Status Next Milestone Expected 

Completion 

Date 

Central Dublin City 

Council 

Castleforbes, Northbank, D.1 

 

LA Housing 

(Acquisitions) 

26  Ongoing discussions with Receiver in 

relation to costs and works to units 

DCC to finalise legal agreement when 

received 

Q1 2017  

North West Dublin City 

Council 

Hampton Wood, Dublin 11 

 

LA Housing 

(Acquisitions) 

25 Agree purchase of units DCC to agree costs to purchase units Q4 2016 

 TOTAL   51    

  

P
age 21



 

10 

 

 Schemes at Tender Stage  

Committee 

Area/ 

Housing 

Category 

Provider Schemes  Funding 

Programme 

No of 

Units 

Status Next Milestone Expected 

Completion 

Date 

Central 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Ballybough Road 

 

LA Housing 7 Tender report sent DHPCLG 27/09/16 Contractor appointed Q4 – 2017 

South Central  

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

St. Teresa’s Gardens 

 

Regeneration 50  Demolitions complete 
Enabling works for services diversions 
being carried out                                                 
Boundary & Drainage enabling works 
tendered Q1 2016 
 
Linear park design agreed 

Boundary & drainage 
works will have to be 
retendered due to extent 
of soil contamination 
uncovered.  
 Main contract – tender to 
issue Q2 2017 
 Precinct Improvement to 
commence. 

Q4 – 2018 

North Central 

General 

Needs 

AHB 

 

Richmond Road (Co-

operative Housing Ireland ) 

 

CALF & Leasing 39 Construction Development. Approval 

from Department 12/10/2015.   

Contractor appointed.  Contractor on 

site.   

 Commence construction  2018 

South Central 

General 

Needs 

AHB Orchard Lawns, Blackditch 
Road D10 (Co-operative 
Housing Ireland )  

CALF & Leasing 72 DCC site. New contractor appointed. 

Contractor due on site mid October     

Commence construction 2018 

South Central 

Special Needs 

AHB Raleigh Square D12 (Tuath)  CALF & Leasing 33 DCC site. Tuath to retender.  New tender 

accepted.  Expect to go on site Qr 4 2016     

Appointment of 

Contractor 

2018 

Central- AHB Killarney Court, Dublin 1 CALF & Leasing 4 Change of use office to residential.  Design Team to be 2017 

P
age 22



 

11 

 

General 

Needs 

(Cluid).     Approved by Department 22.08.2016 – 

PAA only, no CALF 

appointed 

North West-

Special Needs 

AHB Wad River Court, Ballymun 

(Cluid) 

 

CALF & Leasing 8 DCC site. Accelerated funding approved 

by Department 18/08/2016.  Planning 

approval received.   

To complete tender 

process 

Q3 2017 

 GRAND TOTAL   213    

  

P
age 23



 

12 

 

Capital Appraisals submitted to the Department.  

Committee 

Area/ 

Housing 

Category 

Provider Schemes  Funding 

Programme 

No of 

Units 

Status Next Milestone Expected 

Completio

n Date 

North Central 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Bunratty Road, Phase 1c 

 

LA Housing 62 Scheme approved in principle by DPHCLG. Tender 

documentation to procure Design Team being 

prepared.. 

Issue of tender to 

procure design team:Q4 

2016 

Q2 2019 

South Central 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Cornamona, Ballyfermot 

 

LA Housing 60 Approved in principle by DHPCLG..  Part 8 plans 

being finalised 

Submission of Part 8 Q4 

2016 

Q4 2018 

Central 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

North King Street 

 

LA Housing 30 Part 8 was approved at a special meeting of the 

City Council on 25/7/16.  tender documentation 

being approved. 

Approval to go to tender Q3 2018 

Central 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Infirmary Road/ Montpelier 

Hill 

 

LA Housing 30  Tender for design team being assessed. Design team in place Q2 2019 

Central –

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Dominick Street (East Side) 

 

Regeneration 73  Outline design finalised.  Cost Effectiveness 

Report submitted to DECLG on 1/6/16.  Approval 

in principle to project – 29/06/16.  Part 8 

initiated Sept 2016. 

  Part 8 approval Q4 2019 

North Central 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Belcamp (site B) 

 

LA Housing 12 Scheme approved in principle by DPHCLG. Tender 

documentation to procure Design Team being 

prepared.. 

Issue of tender to 

procure design team:Q4 

2016 

Q2 2018 

P
age 24



 

13 

 

North Central 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Belcamp (site C) 

 

LA Housing 16 Scheme approved in principle by DPHCLG. Tender 

documentation to procure Design Team being 

prepared. 

Issue of tender to 

procure design team:Q4 

2016 

Q2 2018 

Central  

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Sackville Avenue Cottages/ 

Croke Villas 

 

Regeneration 12  

35 

Approval to Stage 1 received from Department 

20/06/2016.  Design Team appointed.  Part 8 to 

demolish 4 blocks approved by City Council 

3/10/16. 

Bring to Part 8   Q4 2018 

2019 

South Central 

General 

Needs 

AHB Catherine’s Gate, D.8. (Cluid) 

 

CALF & Leasing  22 Cluid to make funding application under CALF 

and Leasing for all 22 units.  

Units to be acquired Q4 2016 

South East 

Special Needs 

AHB Moss Street, D.2. (Co-

operative Housing Ireland ) 

 

CAS 22  DCC in negotiations with Developer of adjoining 

site.  

 Conclude negotiations 

with Developer 

2018 

South East – 

Special needs 

AHB Townsend Street 180-187 (P 

McVerry Trust)  

CAS 18 DCC property. Approved under 2015 CAS 

Programme. Design team appointed 

Developed design and 

Cost Plan 

2018 

Central – 

Special Needs 

AHB Martanna House, High Park 

(Respond!) 

 

CAS 8 Approved under 2015 CAS Programme. AHB 

reviewing costs. Respond submitted documents 

to seek permission to issue tenders. 

 Approval to go to tender 2018 

South East – 

Special Needs 

AHB Beechill, Dublin 4. (RHDVHA) 

 

CAS 20 DCC property. Approved under 2015 CAS 

Programme.  Design Team Appointed.  Dept 

issued Stage 2 approval .  Planning application 

lodged 8/8/16(3490/16) 

Decision on planning 
application 

2018 

Central 

Special Needs 

AHB Ellis Court, D.7. (Túath) CAS 22 DCC property. Approved under 2015 CAS 

Programme. Design team reviewing following 

DCC’s comments. AHB expects to submit for 

Developed design and 

cost plan  

2018 

P
age 25



 

14 

 

stage 2 approval October 2016.   

South Central 

– Special 

Needs 

AHB Rafter’s Lane, D. 12. 

(Walkinstown Housing Assoc.) 

CAS 15 DCC site. Approved under 2015 CAS Programme. 

WALK appointed Design Team off OGP Panel 

Developed design and 

cost plan      

2018 

Central 

General 

Needs 

AHB St. Mary’s Mansions (Cluid) CALF & Leasing 80 DCC property. Planning permission granted. 

(2812/16). Title rectification underway.  

Issue of  tender 

documents 

2018 

South Central 

Special Needs 

AHB John’s Lane West D8 (Focus) CALF & Leasing 31 Focus has revised planning permission for 31 

units. Design team appointed.  Tender issued for 

demolition and enabling works contract.  

Expected start date of December 2016 

Completion of tender 

process  

2017 

Central – 

Special needs 

AHB Dominick Place (The Aids 

Fund) 

CALF & Leasing 9 Approved for funding. Increase in costs to revert 

back to Department.   

AHB to decide on 

whether to pursue CALF 

or CAS funding stream 

2017 

North West – 

General 

Needs 

AHB Stormanstown Hall, Dublin 11 

(Oaklee) 

CALF & Leasing 42 Approved by Department for CALF and Leasing. 

Expect to complete December 2017 

AHB to agree acquisition 

terms with developer  

Q4 2017 

South Central 

Special Needs 

AHB Kilmainham Cross (Novas 

Initiatives) 

Request for CAS 

funding 

11 Full planning permission for 11 units. Site 

provided by Department of Justice in response to 

Homeless Implementation Calls.   

DCC to meet Novas & IPS 

to discuss viability of 

project 

2018 

Grand total   630    

Schemes at Preliminary Planning / Design 
 

Committee 

Area/ 

Provider Schemes  Funding No of Status Next Milestone Expected 

Completion 

P
age 26



 

15 

 

Housing 

Category 

Programme Units Date 

South East – 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Charlemont (BI 4) Dublin 2 

 

PPP 15 DCC to exercise an option to acquire further units 

at this location  

Agree cost of 15 units with 

Developer and submit to 

DPHCLG for funding 

2020 

North West 

– General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

The Valley Site, St. Helena’s 

Road, Finglas 

LA Housing  50 Design drawn up.  Proposal to include both private 

(120 approx) and social (50 approx) units 

DCC to review  overall plan 2018/2019 

North 
Central – 
General 
Needs 

Dublin City 
Council 

Slademore Ayrfield  
 
 

LA Housing  15 Designs to be reviewed to quantify the extent of 

design work required to bring to Part 8 planning 

stage 

DCC to review designs and 
submit to  DPHCLG for 
approval. 

2018/2019 

South East – 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Shaw Street Pearse St 

 

LA Housing  11 New designs would be required    Review options for future 

development of the site 

2018/2019 

Sth Central 

– General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Springvale Chapelizod 

 

LA Housing  81 Designs to be reviewed to determine extent of 
work required for Part 8  

DCC to review designs and 

submit to  DPHCLG 

2018/2019 

Sth Central 

Special 

Needs 

AHB  New Street Coombe (Peter 

McVerry Trust) 

 

CAS  8 DCC property. Proposal to be submitted re the 
development units – potential for 8 units. Pre-
planning meeting held. AHB preparing Capital 
Appraisal   

AHB submits Capital Appraisal  2017 

Sth Central 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

 

Site 1B St. Michaels Estate 

 

LA Housing 58 Site is now included in the Land Initiative proposal  Pilot Programme for Smart 

Senior Citizen Development. 

 

P
age 27



 

16 

 

South 

Central – 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Reuben Street 

 

LA Housing  1 Site for one house, adjoining house refurbished 

and tenanted recently. 

 Determine future use of site 2018/2019 

North West 

– General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Collins Avenue, Thatch Road 

 

LA Housing  80 Affected by proposals for new high speed bus lane 
from Swords to City Centre, which will reduce 
number of units.  

Determine when site will be 
available for future 
development 

2018/2019 

South 

Central – 

General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Croftwood Gardens & 

Environs 

 

LA Housing  45 Plan to develop a number of infill sites in this area.  DCC to review and  determine 
future development of sites 

2018/2019 

South 

Central 

Dublin City 

Council 

Coruba House lands, Dublin 

12  

 

LA Housing  20 Site boundary to be reviewed in relation to 

adjoining plot of land.   

DCC to review site and 

prepare draft proposal for 

development. 

2018/2019 

Sth Central 

– General 

Needs 

Dublin City 

Council 

Dolphin Phase 2 

 

Regeneration 90 Design being examined Outline design & masterplan 

to be agreed 

2020 

South 

Central 

AHB Jamestown Court, Inchicore 

Dublin 10 (ALONE)  

CALF & 

Leasing 

32  Alone considering CALF & Leasing as alternative 
funding, but to develop entire complex rather than 
single block.AHB prepared proposal and DCC has 
given its comments. 
 

AHB to submit revised 

proposal for site 

2018 

South 

Central 

Special 

Needs 

AHB Dolphin Park D8 (FOLD) 

 

CALF & 

Leasing 

49 Design Team Appointed, site meeting held 

06/09/16 to agree outstanding issues. Consultation 

meeting held with residents reps. Planning 

application lodged 

Grant of planning 2018 

P
age 28



 

17 

 

Central AHB North King Street 84 (Co-

operative Housing Ireland )  

CALF & 

Leasing 

33 Planning application submitted 21/06/2016 

(3163/16).  15/8/16, Additional information 

requested  

Grant of Planning Q4 2017 

Central AHB Poplar Row D3 (Oaklee)  CALF & 

Leasing 

29 An Bord Pleanala granted permission on 28/9/16 Finalise detailed design   2018 

South East AHB Bethany House (Cluid) 
 
 

CALF & 

Leasing 

64 Proposed redevelopment of existing 38 units and 

the addition of an extra 26 units.  Decanting to 

commence. 

Development of design  2018 

Central AHB Site at Railway St – opposite 

Peadar Kearney 

House(Circle)  

CALF & 

Leasing 

34 DCC site. Early Planning.  Feasibility Study reviewed 

by DCC.  Pre-planning meeting held. Revised 

Design submitted. Cost appraisal being carried out 

by Circle 

Agree proposal 2019 

North 

Central 

AHB Clongriffin (The Iveagh 

Trust) 

CALF & 

Leasing 

84 Early Planning.  Part V AHB to submit funding 

application 

2018 

South 

Central 

Dublin City 

Council 

Bow Lane James’s Street LA Housing  4 Site acquired by the Council.  DCC to review and prepare 
draft design. 

2018/2019 

Central 

Special 

Needs 

AHB Bolton St, Dublin 1 (NOVAS)  CAS 8 AHB prepared preliminary proposal to redevelop 

buildings as 2 *4bed.  DCC reviewed proposal and 

made comments.  

AHB to submit revised 

proposal for site 

2018 

Central AHB The Steelworks, Dublin 1 

(Cluid) 

CALF & 

Leasing 

8 For St. Mary’s Mansions decanting DCC returned comments to 

Department 

Q4 2016 

Central, 

South 

Central (7), 

North West 

AHB Various locations (Novas) CALF & 

Leasing 

11 Houses to be acquired for homeless.  Approved by 

Department 

To be acquired  Q4 2016 

P
age 29



 

18 

 

(3), North 

Central (1) 

TOTAL   777    

 
  

P
age 30



 

19 

 

Vacant Council Lands (Total Residential Dwellings to include 30% Social Housing) 

Schemes/Sites Comment Approx. 

Oscar Traynor Road 

 

North Central – General Needs 

Lands owned by the Council (not acquired for housing purposes).  Included in Housing Land Initiative 

feasibility study.  Design being reviewed prior to going to market 

195 

O Devaney Gardens + Infirmary Road 

 

Central – General Needs 

former PPP lands. Phase 1.  Included in Housing Land Initiative feasibility study.  Part VIII report to 

demolish 4 blocks approved by the City Council on 25/07/16.  Demolition of 2 blocks commenced Sept 

2016 

175 

St Michaels Estate  

 

South Central – General Needs 

former PPP lands.  Included in Housing Land Initiative feasibility study 130 

Total  500 

Sites for Social Housing PPP; Bundle 1 

Schemes/Sites Comment Approx. 

Scribblestown (lot 5)  

North West – General Needs 

Design Team in place.   100 

Ayrfield (part of)  

North Central – General Needs and Special 

Needs 

Design Team in place.    100 

Total  200 

  

P
age 31



 

20 

 

 Rapid Home Delivery 

Scheme/Sites No. of Units Status Next Milestone Expected Completion Date 

4 Sites: 
1. St. Helena’s Drive NW 
2. Cherry Orchard  SC 
3. Belcamp H  NC 
4. Mourne Road  SC 

131 Letters of intent with winning bidders, main contract to be signed  

October 2016 

Contractor to be on site 

mid October 

Q1 2017 

      

Woodbank Rathvilly NW 

HSE Lands Ballyfermot SC 

Woodville House  NC 

50-70 Currently reviewing sites including topographical surveys and 

mapping of utilities and services 

  

2 sites to be identified for a 

Pilot Scheme for Apartment 

Volumetric Build 

100 Advertisement for Architectural Services for Volumetric Build 

Framework October 2016 

Site Selection Q3 2016 2018 

Total 301    

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 32



 

21 

 

Appendix 1 

Abbreviations and Definitions: 

  AHB – Approved Housing Body      CALF – Capital Advance Leasing Facility – up to 30% Capital injection to AHB’s (SHCEP) 

  RAS – Rental Accommodation Scheme     Leasing – Long term leasing from private landlords or AHB’s (SHCEP) 

  HAP – Housing Assistance Payment     Construction/Regeneration – DCC projects funded under SHIP 

  CAS – Capital Assistance Scheme (100% grant to AHBs under SHIP) Acquisition – Purchase of previously built units (SHIP)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 35



Page 36



 1

Contents 

 

Executive Summary 3 

Recommendations from Housing Working Group in brief 4 

Introduction – Rational 6 

1. Dublin City Age Friendly Programme and Housign Workign Group – 

context 

6 

2. HWG Methodology 

a. Meetings 

b. Mapping 

c. Site visits 

d. Literature review and consideration 

e. Workshops 

7 

7 

7 

7 

8 

8 

3. The basis of the ‘Housing with Supports’ Concept 9 

4. Dublin City Age Friendly ‘Housing with Supports’ prototype proposal 9 

5. Demand for Housing – known and expresseed 10 

6. Site Identification – the use of relevant development principles 11 

7. Incorporation of Universal Design Principles and Age Friendly Design 

Recommendations 

12 

8. Assistive ‘SMART Technologies’ 12 

9. Strategic partnership – a new way of working – Sustainability and 

Transferability 

13 

10. Tenancy and service charge 14 

11. ‘Housing with Support’ levels of support 14 

12. Staffing 15 

13. Community Activitiy and Community development 15 

14. Definition of Older Person 16 

  

Page 37



 2

15. Eligibility for the Scheme 16 

16. Referral and application process 16 

17. The voice of Older People  17 

18. Evaluation 17 

19. Costings 

a       Capital costs 

b       Revenue costs 

17 

17 

17 

Conclusion 18 

Appendices  

• Membership of key groups 

• Componants of mapping 

• Workshops 

• DCC Housing and Transfer waiting list 2016 

• Phase 1b – site at Inchicore 

• Table of Services and approximate distance from the sitie in 

Inchicore 

• Age Friendly Cities and Counties Survey (HaPAI 2016) 

 

19 - 43 

Organisational Logos for Housign Working Group Members  44 

 

  

Page 38



 3

 

Executive Summary. 
This report is the result of the Dublin City Age Friendly Programme’s Housing Working Group’s 

(HWG) intense work in the first half of 2016. It is in line with the Age Friendly Ireland Programme 

embedded in every local authority in Ireland. It also reflects housing for older people as a crucial 

priority in many of the local authority’s strategies. 

 

 On the 7
th

 October 2015 a housing summit brought together key senior staff across Dublin City 

responsible for housing and care of older people with the single aim to agree an outline of what a an 

innovative housing scheme for older people should be and to develop a prototype project for Dublin 

with the potential for national significance. This led to the establishment of the Dublin City Housing 

Working Group. Its Methodology included mapping, sites visits, literature review and workshops with 

older people in Dublin and staff who work with older people in the community. 

 

The mapping exercise of existing social housing schemes for older people in Dublin against essential 

services has been completed. Over the last 6 months the members of the group have visited 8 

different schemes to learn from them. In line with the site visits the group also examined 

publications and reviews carried out on housing and supports for older people in Ireland and other 

jurisdictions. The interplay between appropriate housing design, suitable community location and 

the availability of supports was recognised to be the key determinant of quality of life for older 

people. Supports will be given through five levels. The five levels are based on housing and facilities 

management as well as social and care supports. This proposed pilot project will be independently 

evaluated over time.  

 

The HWG’s strength derives from the active collaboration of decision-makers representing all the 

major stakeholders who interact with older people in the provision of services and supports on a 

daily basis. The views of the older people and staff that we met in the focus groups has been central 

to the overall process and many of their ideas has influenced the range of recommendations that are 

being put forward within this report. The seamless partnership between the main actors will allow 

for an enabling environment and will have services that are tailored to the changing needs of older 

people.  It is also building on the work of many local authorities that have informally worked on an 

integrated approach to housing for the older person, together with the work of Approved Housing 

Bodies (AHB) who have achieved so much already in developing, managing and providing housing 

with supports, in the absence of an appropriately developed framework.  

 

The HWG with the assistance of DCC have identified a site for a demonstration project in Inchicore. It 

is extremely well placed to meet most, if not all, of the recommendations within this report. It is on 

0.8 hectares and is located next to an existing housing development for family housing and a HSE 

health centre which includes a Primary Health Care Centre. It is within easy reach of the village of 

Inchicore. 

 

Considering this backdrop, the “Housing with Support demonstration project” will consist of 

approximately 50/60 units (70% x 1 bedroom and 30% x 2 bedroom units). The project will strive to 

incorporate universal design principles and age friendly design recommendations which allows for 

the adaptability of the home over the life-course. 

 

This report documents the findings, the process followed and recommendations of the HWG and is 

fully endorsed by the entire membership of the group.  

 

 

Page 39



 4

Recommendations from Housing Working Group are: 
 

Recommendation 1:  The findings and recommendations from AFI’s ‘Housing for Older People: 

Future Perspectives’ to be taken into consideration in the design and 

development of a Dublin ‘Housing with Support’ prototype project. 

 

Recommendation 2: The issues recorded in the report from the two workshops carried out in 

Dublin with older people and staff to be used to inform the physical and 

supports design of such a prototype project.  

 

Recommendation 3: Dublin City Council to provide a site for the development of the ‘Housing with 

Support’ prototype project. This will be cognisant of the mapping exercise and 

key principles listed above. 

 

Recommendation 4: The Department of Health and Department of Housing, Planning, Community 

and Local Authority will jointly consider how best to collaborate on the 

resourcing of the ‘Housing with Supports’ demonstration project and its 

optimal successful implementation. 

 

Recommendation 5: The prototype project should comprise of approximately 50/60 units of 

housing with a mix of 70% 1 bedroom units and 30% 2 bedroom units. 

 

Recommendation 6: An evaluation process be built into the prototype pilot project. 

 

Recommendation 7: The design and unit size will strive to adopt a universal design approach that 

allows for the adaptability of the home over a life course. Guidelines 

produced by the Centre for Excellence in Universal Design (CEUD) – ‘Universal 

Design Guidelines’ to be used as a reference point in the design with 

appropriate costs factored into the funding allocation.  

 

Recommendation 8: The design of the building to allow for assistive technology to be used in the 

delivery of supports, as and when the support needs of the older person 

requires it. E.g. 1) Broadband and Cat 6 cabling is used, 2) the physical 

infrastructure of ceilings allows for hoist tracking to be installed if it is 

required at a further date in an older person’s tenancy. 

 

Recommendation 9: At a minimum, emergency call systems and energy monitoring devises are 

installed in every home. 

 

Recommendation 10: The HSE have written in its intention to support financially the Dublin City 

HWG Housing with Support pilot project within their 2016 Operational Plan. 

Such commitment to be carried over to further Operational Plans to enable 

this prototype project to come to fruition. 

 

Recommendation 11: A Steering Group is set up out of the HWG to oversee the progression and 

delivery of the prototype project while in pilot stage. The Steering Group will 

work to develop a “Framework Toolkit’’ to provide a means by which the 

prototype model can be used by housing and support providers in the public 

and private sectors across Ireland. 

Page 40



 5

 

Recommendation 12: An Expression of Interest (EoI) will be sought to identify an AHB to develop 

and run the prototype project. The EoI will have regard to the new 

Communications Development Protocol that has been developed and will be 

led by DCC Housing and Community Department. 

 

Recommendation 13: At any one time the pilot project will house a mix of people with various 

support needs. It is envisaged that that split will be: 60% low to medium 

support needs, requiring level 2 & 3 supports only: 40% with medium to high 

support needs requiring levels 4 & 5 supports.  This will be approached in a 

flexible manner in dialogue with the older person and the relevant agencies 

 

Recommendation 14: The pilot project will have a brief for community development with respect to 

older people living within the project and within a defined area of the 

development. Within the first year of the life of the scheme an Age Friendly 

Towns programme will be introduced in the area. 

 

Recommendation 15: A referrals board is established which will work with the AHB to set the 

allocations model and oversee the referrals process into the scheme.  

 

 

The HWG recognise that while developed primarily for social housing for older people in Dublin City, 

the “housing with supports” prototype as outlined in this report could have potential for adaptability 

and replicability in large rural towns and also in small conurbations (pop circa 1000) across the 

country and in other housing types, both new build and refurbishment, for the public and private 

sectors. 

 

The HWG are delighted to share these findings and recommendations. The older person is at the 

centre of the deliberations which underpinned the process. This report asks that the 

recommendations be translated into the practical result of housing with support - meeting the needs 

and personal choices of older people in Dublin and across Ireland. 

Page 41



 6

Introduction - Rational 
The projected doubling of the over-65 population, and the quadrupling of the over-80 population, by 

2045 makes planning for the future housing needs of older people a matter of critical importance.   

 

Most of us want to stay in our own homes as we grow older.  Many homes are unsuitable for reasons 

of poor quality, inaccessibility, isolation etc. There are insufficient community-based supports for 

older people, so that the system is often slanted towards residential care.  Inevitably, many older 

people, who could be supported to live in the community, find themselves in expensive, and 

unwanted, residential settings. A particular challenge many of the older population face is either they 

qualify under social housing or fall just outside it and do not have access to the required funds to 

transition from their current accommodation. 

 

At the same time, there is growing political and fiscal pressure to find sustainable approaches to both 

housing and support for older people.  Residential care is not older people’s first choice and can be 

expensive.  There is an urgent need to identify sustainable models of “housing with supports” which 

can offer older people the benefits of living in their own home, while providing economies of scale 

which enable the provision of supports and facilities, flexibly and cost-effectively. Such sustainable 

models will bring value for money through economies of scale for older citizens and in the long run 

the public purse. 

 

1. Dublin City Age Friendly Programme and Housing Working Group 
Dublin City Age Friendly Programme is part of the national Age Friendly Cities and Counties       

Programme in Ireland. This national Programme is Ireland’s adaptation of the World Health 

Organization’s (WHO) Age Friendly Cities and Communities model established in 2007. The national 

Programme is coordinated by Age Friendly Ireland, which was established in January 2014 as an 

intermediary organization.  

The Dublin City Age Friendly Programme was established in 2013 with the formation of the Dublin 

City Age Friendly Alliance (see appendix 1 for full membership) and it launched its Age Friendly 

Strategy in October 2014. Following the WHO’s domains the Dublin City Strategy aims to respond to 

what older people highlighted during consultation (2013) as to what they felt was required to make 

Dublin a better place in which to live and to grow old in. One of the actions that was adopted as part 

of the Strategy was that “Dublin City Council’s Housing Department will work with the public, private 

and voluntary sectors to facilitate, design and deliver a range of homes for older people that enable 

them to remain in their homes for longer”. On the 7
th

 October 2015 a housing summit was held. The 

housing summit brought together key senior staff across Dublin City responsible for housing and care 

of older people with the single aim of agreeing an outline of what a prototype for an innovative 

housing scheme for older people should include and to develop a pilot scheme for Dublin. The 

summit provided a platform to agree a housing prototype based on the concept of ‘Housing with 

Support’, which would cover a range of areas, from the physical environment to social, care and 

community supports. 

 

One of the significant outcomes of the Dublin City Housing Summit was the establishment of the 

Dublin City Housing Working Group (HWG).  The HWG comprises senior personnel from Dublin City 

Council (DCC), the Health Services Executive (HSE), the Department of Health (DoH), the Department 

of Housing, Planning and Local Government (DHPLG), Age Friendly Ireland (AFI), the Irish Council for 

Social Housing (ICSH), Alone and others (see Appendix 1 for full membership).  The HWG gave itself 

around six months from the end of 2015 to develop a prototype of “housing with supports” for older 

people.  The HWG was serviced and coordinated by Mr Patrick Doherty, AFI and Niall Mooney, DCC 

Age Friendly Office. 
 

Page 42



 7

This report documents the findings, the process followed and the recommendations of the HWG and 

has the complete agreement of the membership of the group. This collaborative, cross-sectoral and 

cross-department working group recognises the need for a joined-up approach to address the critical 

issue of creating housing choice for the changing demographic, one that will require housing, social 

and care supports to be incorporated into any single scheme.  

 

2. HWG Methodology 
The work of the HWG focused on identifying good practice nationally and internationally and a 

review of relevant literature and reports on the area of housing and supports for older people here in 

Ireland and also in the UK was undertaken. Methodologies included mapping, site visits, literature 

review and workshops with older people here in Dublin and staff who work with older people in the 

community. 
 

a. Meetings 
The HWG held its first meeting on the 18

th
 December 2015 and has met 6 times over a 6-month 

period. The Group is chaired by and independent chair, Mr Maurice O’Connell appointed by Mr 

Brendan Kenny, Deputy Chief Executive Dublin City Council.  

 

b. Mapping 
One of the starting points of the HWG was to carry out a mapping exercise of existing social housing 

schemes for older people in Dublin against essential services (see appendix 2 – components of 

mapping). The maps were produced by HSE Health Atlas with data of housing schemes supplied by 

DCC Housing Department and the Irish Council for Social Housing (ICSH). This mapping information is 

the first time that this range of information has been collated and produced in this way and will be 

refined and built upon for future planning. The maps also show the concentration of people over 65 

years and between 45 and 54 years of age by electoral district. This latter cohort is particularly 

important for all service providers when planning for future services. This same mapping process is 

being replicated across the other three County Dublin local authority areas (Dún Laoghaire-

Rathdown, Fingal and South Dublin County Council).   

 

c. Site visits – using experiences from other schemes in Dublin and Ireland 
Over the last 6 months the members of the group have visited 8 different schemes to see them in 

operation and to identify what they felt worked well (best practice) and what the challenges were 

from the perspective of their physical design and support structures. The HWG have also taken the 

advice of its members regarding the invaluable experience of other AHBs working in this area this has 

also influenced this report.  

 

The schemes that the HWG visited were;  

• ALONE – Support Coordination – Dublin 

• St Benedict’s, St Vincent de Paul – Housing Scheme for older people – Fingal 

• Great North Haven – The Netwell Centre and Cluid Housing Association Housing scheme for 

older people – Co Louth  

• McAuley Place – Nas na Riogh Housing Association, Housing Scheme for older People – Co 

Kildare 

• Greendale – DCC Housing for older people under refurbishment – Dublin City 

• Clareville Court – DCC Housing Scheme for Older People and Day Centre, Glasnevin – Dublin City 

• Merville Court - DCC Housing Scheme for Older People – Dublin City 

• McKee Court - DCC Housing Scheme for Older People – Dublin City  

 

These site visits have been critically important in assisting the HWG to shape its recommendations as 

Page 43



 8

to what should be included in the pilot scheme of housing with support in Dublin City. The HWG are 

very appreciative of the time and hospitality of the staff and volunteers in the various schemes that it 

visited. 

 

d. Literature review and consideration – ‘We were not starting from scratch’ 
In line with the site visits the group considered findings and learnings included in publications and 

reviews carried out on the topic of housing and supports for older people.  

 

The key reports considered were 

• Housing for Older People: Future Perspectives – AFI 2016 

• A Home for Life, the housing and supports needs of Cluid’s Older Tenants – October 2015 

• The future housing and support needs of older people in Northern Ireland – Chris Paris 

(Emeritus Professor of Housing, University of Ulster) – a report to the Northern Ireland Housing 

Executive - November 2010 

• What is Extra Care Housing? Housing LIN resources and fact sheets – UK 

• Strategic Housing for Older People: Housing LIN - UK 

 

Many of these publications and resources have been helpful in steering the HWG in how to shape a 

‘Housing with Support’ prototype which we are recommending to be developed initially here in 

Dublin but one that will have replicability for other cities and towns throughout Ireland. This has 

enabled the group to make a number of recommendations. 

 

Recommendation 1:  The findings and recommendations from AFI’s ‘Housing for Older People: 

Future Perspectives’ to be taken into consideration in the design and 

development of a Dublin ‘Housing with Support’ prototype project.  

 

e. Workshops with Older People and Staff working with Older People 
Core to the ethos of the Age Friendly programme here in Ireland and also that of the reform of local 

government as laid out within Putting People First is allowing the voice of the older person (the 

citizen) shape what services are being developed.  As part of the Dublin City Age Friendly Housing 

Working Group two workshops where held on the 13th and 17th June 2016 

 

The purpose of the workshops was:  

• To gather the views of older people as to what they feel is needed in an appropriate model of 

supported housing that will best enable them to remain in their homes and communities for as 

long as possible. 

• To gather the views and experiences from staff (DCC, HSE and NGOs) as to what they feel 

would enable older people to remain living in their own homes and communities   for as long as 

possible.  

 

The full report from the two workshops is attached with this report. The voice of the older person as 

well as the staff are echoed and covered in the range of recommendations within this report and 

should be considered when designing a project brief for any such prototype project from design 

through to service delivery. (See Appendix 3: the two workshops report) 

 

Recommendation 2: The issues and suggestions recorded in the report from the two workshops 

carried out in Dublin with older people and staff to be used to inform the 

physical and supports design of such a prototype project.  

 

 

Page 44



 9

3. The basis of the “Housing with Supports” concept 
“Housing with Supports” is based on the core concepts of: 

• Lifetime adaptable housing, which is universally designed to require the minimum of later 

adaptation, and easily adaptable to meet changing needs if necessary, thus delaying or 

removing the need to move to residential care. 

• Ageing in place, which underpins contemporary thinking on ageing, enabling people to stay 

in their own homes and communities. 

• Autonomy of housing and supports, older people who move into the ‘Housing with 

Support’ project will be given a Tenancy Agreement and will have ultimate autonomy of 

what supports are provided to them. Tenants will have exclusive possession of their home 

(their own front door and power over access to their homes). The tenancies will be subject 

to conditions as laid out in the Residential Tenancies (Amendment) Act 2015. To this extent 

this pilot scheme and any future schemes that are developed using an agreed framework 

will not be considered as a designated centre as per the Health Act 2007. 

 

The interplay between appropriate housing design, suitable location and the availability of supports 

is recognised to be the key determinant of quality of life for older people.  With the right tailored 

supports in the right setting, older people can become more independent, not less, as they age. 

 

4. Demand for Housing – known and expressed  
The housing needs of older persons are often under-represented in the Housing Needs Assessment / 

housing waiting lists. Often older people do not see that their housing need can be met through 

social housing and are often not aware that they would qualify for social housing. 

 

The 2011 Census recorded that 113,671 people were over the age of 55 in Dublin City and of these        

66,490 were over the age of 65.  

 

DCC Housing Waiting List 

Combined Housing and Transfer Waiting Lists for over 55s in DCC as of August 2016 (see appendix 4 

for breakdown of DCC Housing and Transfer Waiting lists) 

 

Combined Housing waiting list 1309 

Combined Transfer waiting list 833 

  

Combined Housing Waiting List and Priority List 2142 

 

Health and Positive Ageing Initiatives (HaPAI) 

In the recent Healthy and Positive Ageing Initiative (HaPAI) survey, administered in partnership with 

the national Age Friendly Cities and Counties Programme, 500 adults aged 55+ across Dublin City 

were asked  questions about housing problems, housing supports they need, and their attitude to 

future housing options. .  Results are presented for two different age groups (55-69 and 70+) and for 

the total sample.  Gender differences were not observed in the results, with the exception of 

problems with housing upkeep.  Gender differences are therefore presented for this issue only.  

 

A total of 62.9% of the sample were aged 55-69 and 37.1% were aged 70+.  The majority (61.5%) 

reported living in the city suburb, 25.9% lived in the inner city, 10.5% live in a town (with a 

population of 1500+) and 2.1% reported living in a village. Almost all (96.4%) currently live in a house 

and 3.6% live in a flat, apartment or bedsit. Almost all (91.7%) respondents have lived in their current 

home for 10 years or more. A total of 20% aged 55-69 and 38.7% aged 70+ live alone. More than 3 

out of 4 respondents (87%) like living in their neighbourhood “a lot”.  (Appendix 5, the HaPAI Survey) 

Page 45



 10

 

 Attitude to Future Housing Options - Survey Question  

If your home was no longer suitable for you (or your spouse), for example if you were unable to climb 

stairs or you needed additional support in the home, how do you feel about any of the following 

possibilities? 

 

 

 

5. Dublin City Age Friendly ‘Housing with Supports’ prototype proposal  
The Dublin City Age Friendly Housing Working Group recommend that capital funding from the 

DHPCLG and revenue funding from the HSE is secured to develop a pilot ‘housing with support’ 

prototype project for Older People in Dublin. This pilot is important because it has brought key 

stakeholders together to develop a framework from the outset for a prototype of Housing with 

Support that serves older people better.    

 

In brief the pilot scheme will; 

• comprise a site of 50/60 self-contained units  

• be a mix of one- and two-bedroom units, for single people and couples, on a 

greenfield/brownfield site 

• Accommodate a mix of people with varying support needs 

• Have a team of support staff based onsite  

• Provide outreach services for people within a defined catchment area of scheme and act as a 

resource for local community development 

 

Recommendation 3: Dublin City Council to provide a site for the development of the ‘Housing 

with Support’ prototype project. This will be cognisant of the mapping 

exercise and key principles listed above. 

Housing 

Option  

Response Location 
Age 55-69 Age 70+ Total 

Adapting your 

current house 

to your needs 

Dublin City 

Negative Dublin City 3.7 6.2 4.6 

Other counties 11.3 12.1 11.6 

Neither negative nor 

positive 

Dublin City 9.0 4.4 7.3 

Other counties 12 11 11.6 

Positive Dublin City 87.3 89.3 88.1 

Other counties 76.7 77 76.8 

Moving to an 

adapted type 

of housing 

 

Negative Dublin City 60.0 78.1 66.7 

Other counties 51.5 62.2 55.7 

Neither negative nor 

positive 

Dublin City 12.2 7.8 10.6 

Other counties 13.5 11.7 12.8 

Positive Dublin City 27.8 14.2 22.7 

Other Counties 35 26 31.5 

Moving in 

with your 

children 

Negative Dublin City 70.2 86.7 76.4 

Other counties 66.2 67.1 66.6 

Neither negative nor 

positive 

Dublin City 12.2 7.0 10.3 

Other counties 17.1 15.7 16.6 

Positive Dublin City 17.5 6.3 13.3 

Other counties 16.7 17.1 16.9 

    88.6 79.9 

Page 46



 11

 

The Housing Working Group has considered evidence from other jurisdictions and within Ireland, 

that a ‘housing with support’ model can provide ‘value for money’ through economies of scale that 

supports the business case for both capital and revenue investment. The Housing with Support 

prototype should consist of approximately 50/60 units (70% x 1 bedroom and 30% x 2 bedroom 

units). 

 

As part of the pilot scheme a formal evaluation will be undertaken to provide evidence based data to 

support the business case for replicating the ‘housing with support’ model in Dublin to other parts of 

Ireland going forward. (See section 19) 

 

Recommendation 4: The Department of Health and Department of Housing, Planning, 

Community and Local Authority will jointly consider how best to collaborate 

on the resourcing of the ‘Housing with Supports’ demonstration project and 

its optimal successful implementation. 

 

Recommendation 5: The prototype project should comprise of approximately 50/60 units of 

housing with a mix of 70% 1 bedroom units and 30% 2 bedroom units. 

 

Recommendation 6: An evaluation process should be built into the prototype project. 

 

6.    Site identification – the use of relevant development principles;  
In line with the recommendations from AFI’s ‘Housing for Older People – Future Perspectives’ the 

following four factors have been used in the identification of a site for the ‘Housing with Supports’ 

demonstration project. These recommendations will assist in promoting the concept of ‘sustainable 

communities’ which will support older people to live independently for as long as they wish to; 

(i) Location: the site will be in walkable proximity to public and other essential services, recreation 

and amenities so that older people may use them more readily. Where an available site if not 

adjacent to essential health services consideration will be made to providing space for outreach 

services to be provided onsite. 

(ii) Place-making: The design will support the creation of an attractive place to live and will be 

sensitive to the local context and urban form of the area. An appropriate blend of attractive, 

well designed and located housing which will be well integrated with essential services will 

enable older people to support healthy lifestyles, encourage more active lives and reduce the 

risk of loneliness and social isolation.  

(iii) Reuse of land: For the purpose of this development a brown field site is more likely to be used 

and it is believed will promote the development of sustainable communities. 

(iv) Socially and environmentally appropriate: the development will incorporate a mix of dwelling 

type, size to meet the needs of older people 

DCC have identified a site for the prototype project subject to ratification. It has been visited by a 

number of the working group and is extremely well placed to meet most, if not all, of the 

recommendations within this report. It is located centrally within a very settled community and has 

access to shops, transport, medical infrastructure and an opportunity to be within an 

intergenerational setting which will enhance integration. (see appendix 6, Plans for 1b) Located in 

Inchicore, Dublin 8, the proposed site is on .8 hectares and is located next to an existing housing 

development for family housing provided by an AHB and a HSE Health Centre which includes a 

Primary Health Care Centre. It is within easy reach of the village of Inchicore and is close to a wide 

range of essential services (see appendix 7 - table of services and approximate distances from site).  

Page 47



 12

Within the areas around the proposed site, using data from the HWG mapping exercise, (8 Electoral 

Districts that stretch from the CIE Works in the west to the Suir Road in the east and from Con 

Colbert Road in the north to the Davitt Road in the south) the 2011 Census indicated that there are 

5,389 people in total over the age of 55 living in the Inchicore area, 2,291 between the ages of 55 – 

65 and 3,198 above the age 65. 

 

7.     Incorporation of Universal Design Principles and Age Friendly Design 

        Recommendations;  
The project will strive to incorporate universal design principles and age friendly design 

recommendations which allows for the adaptability of the home over the life-course. Universally 

designed, lifetime adaptable housing will support a more seamless and cost effective introduction of 

changes to the house (e.g. tracking for hoists and easy access to all facilities, including bathrooms 

and kitchens, by wheelchair users) where necessary, thereby delaying and often removing the need 

for older people to move to residential care. 

Examples and dimensions that the building specifications will incorporate: 

• independent use of all facilities, including bathrooms and kitchens, by wheelchair users 

• The design of the infrastructure will facilitate future support requirements of tenants such as, 

ability to support hoists mechanisms if and when required by individual care plans as they 

develop, e.g. hoists 

• lifts with adequate space for a stretcher 

• bedroom sizes that can facilitate the use of bariatric hospital bed  

• The inclusion of assistive technology to support tenants in everyday living 

 

The use of age friendly development recommendations along with universal design principles and 

recommendations will: 

• Promote active and healthy living for older tenants and thus improving their quality of life 

• Encourage tenants to be outdoors and thus maintain health 

• Increase opportunities for socialisation and thus reduce the risk of isolation and loneliness 

• Offer people, where relevant, to consider downsizing and moving from their current location  

 

Recommendation 7: The design and unit size will strive to adopt a universal design approach that 

allows for the adaptability of the home over a life course. Guidelines 

produced by the Centre for Excellence in Universal Design (CEUD) – 

‘Universal Design Guidelines’ to be used as a reference point in the design 

with appropriate costs factored into the funding allocation.  

 

8.     Assistive ‘SMART Technologies’ 
Cat 6 cabling, broadband access and telecare will be installed throughout the project in homes and 

communal areas. These relevant assistive, ‘smart’ technologies will help older people to live 

independently for longer in the scheme in a non-invasive environment. 

 

Recommendation 8: The design of the building to allow for assistive SMART Technologies to be 

used in the delivery of supports, as and when the support needs of the older 

person requires it. E.g. 1) Broadband and Cat 6 cabling is used, 2) the 

physical infrastructure of ceilings allows for hoist tracking to be installed if it 

is required at a further date in an older person’s tenancy. 

 

Recommendation 9: At a minimum, ‘emergency call’ systems and ‘energy monitoring’ devices 

are installed in every home. 

Page 48



 13

 

9.     Strategic partnership - a new way of working – Sustainability and 

        Transferability 
A core strength of the HWG and this new approach to the model of “Housing with Support” for older 

people is a join-up approach between the DOH and DHPCLG at a national level and the HSE, LA and 

service provider at a local level.  This approach, the HWG strongly believes will support the effective 

implementation of national strategies and programmes such as the Housing Action Plan 2016, the 

Social Housing Strategy 2020, National housing Strategy for People with a Disability 2011-2016, 

Healthy Ireland (2013), and the National Positive Ageing Strategy (2013).  

 

To realise the development of a new model of housing for Ireland, it is strongly felt by the HWG, in 

particular the representatives from both Government Departments, that both should work 

collaboratively and to support each other in securing both capital and revenue funding.  

 
This seamless partnership between the main actors will allow for an enabling environment and will 

have services that can be tailored to the changing needs of older people.   

 

The prototype model will be a partnership between: 

• DCC, which will 

o provide a site for the pilot housing scheme 

o support a submission to the DHPLG for capital funding 

• HSE, which will provide adequate annual revenue funding for the care element of the onsite 

support team 

• Approved Housing Body who will design, build and manage the housing scheme 
 

The scheme will be delivered by an appointed Approved Housing Body having regard to the 

Communications Development Protocol between Local Authorities and AHBs. It will be funded using 

capital funding from the Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government specifically 

earmarked for this pilot project. This process will be overseen by a Steering Group to be established 

by the key stakeholders.  

 

In brief, expressions of interest will be sought by AHBs detailing approach to the following; 

• Housing design approach along with capital costs – the built environment 

• Long term management and maintenance costs 

• Support services along with revenue costs 

• Timeline for project development and completion. 

 

The “Housing with Support” Steering Group will comprise of the members from the following 

agencies who will appoint an independent Chair to oversee the next phase of the process. 

• Local authority (DCC) 

• HSE 

• DHPCLG  

• DoH 

• AFI 

The Steering group will be charged with developing a new “Framework Toolkit / Manual” that will 

enable the concept of “Housing with Support” to be useful to others in the public and private sectors 

across Ireland and the effective embedding of this joined up collaboration at local levels The 

framework toolkit will cover areas such as commissioning process, capital and revenue funding, 

allocation protocols, and how the schemes will be measured. It will also provide guidance on how 

this can support schemes of differing sizes. 

Page 49



 14

 

Recommendation 10: The HSE have written in its intention to support financially the Dublin City 

HWG Housing with Support pilot project within their 2016 Operational Plan. 

Such commitment to be carried over to further Operational Plans to enable 

this prototype project to come to fruition.  

 

Recommendation 11: A Steering Group is set up out of the HWG to oversee the progression and 

delivery of the prototype project while in pilot stage. The Steering Group 

will work to develop a “Framework Toolkit’’ to provide a means by which 

the prototype model can be used by housing and support providers in the 

public and private sectors across Ireland. 

 

Recommendation 12: An Expression of Interest (EoI) will be sought to identify an AHB to develop 

and run the prototype project. The EoI will have regard to the new 

Communications Development Protocol that has been developed and will 

be led by DCC Housing and Community Department. 

 

10.   Tenancy and service charges 
Each older person who moves into the project will be given a tenancy from the AHB and will be 

subject to a rental charge agreed and set by the AHB in consultation with the Local Authority. 

  

The rental charge will cover essential housing and maintenance costs.  Service charges will vary 

according to the required support package (see section 13 below). 

 

11.   ‘Housing with Support’ levels of support 
Supports will be given through 5 levels of supports. The five levels are based around, housing and 

facilities management, social and care supports. 

 

Level 1 will form part of the tenancy agreement and will be automatic to all tenants. Tenants will 

have a choice of four other levels of support.  These will be optional; none will be imposed. Support 

will be offered using an ethos of ‘empowerment’ ensuring that older people are encouraged and 

empowered to retain and remain independent for as long as possible. The table below outlines in 

brief the five levels of support and how each level of support will be funded; 

 

Levels of support table 

 

Level number Detail in brief Funding source 

Level 1 
Housing management and tenancy support, provided for 

all tenants: housing management, facilities management 

and emergency response 

Rental charge 

Level 2 Covers minimal social and care support, with some 

practical support: information service, daily check or call,  

Rental charge 

Page 50



 15

Level 3 

Provides assistance in daily living: help with housework, 

shopping, laundry, preparation of meals, some support in 

personal care, medication reminders  plus linking in with 

other social and health care providers 

Service Charge 

Level 4 Provide personal care: such as washing, showering, going 

to the toilet, getting in and out of bed 

SLA with HSE 

Level 5 Level 5: as above, with additional supports provided by the 

HSE or other care providers, not by onsite staff. 

SLA with HSE 

 

At any given time, there will be a mix of tenants with varying support needs.  Support interventions, 

coupled with the enabling environment will result in greater independence and a subsequent 

lessening of need among some tenants. This will be reflected in the allocations process for the 

scheme, (see section 15 & 16)  

 

Recommendation 13: At any one time the pilot project will house a mix of people with various 

support needs. It is envisaged that that split will be: 60% low - medium 

support needs, requiring level 2 & 3 supports only: 40% with medium to 

high support needs requiring levels 4 & 5 supports.  This will be approached 

in a flexible manner in dialogue with the older person and the relevant 

agencies 

 

(**)  It should be noted that the HWG recognise that not all of the medium to higher support needs 

may come from the DCC Housing list but that the allocations policy developed for the project 

should give higher priority for those people on the DCC housing and transfer waiting list who 

have a medical priority scoring.  

 

12.   Staffing 
The support services will be delivered by a specialist provider and will include: 

• Staff onsite presence 24 hours a day: 

o Housing and facilities management support during the day 

o Social and Care supports during day 

o A degree of security and emergency presence overnight 

 

13.   Community activity and community development 
Social activities and other interventions will be part of the strategy of maintaining and enhancing 

dignity and independence.  It is also important that we encourage the richness of intergenerational 

exchange and facilitate the learning from each generation’s experience. Such activities can be seen 

as low-level support interventions which increase health and quality of life.  A community facility, 

provided onsite, will be the hub of this activity, not only for the residents of the scheme but for the 

wider community adjacent to the scheme.  

 

Depending on the proximity of the site to local health care providers, it may be desirable to include 

health care facilities onsite.  

 

Page 51



 16

Though it is accepted that the housing units’ costs will be covered under DHPCLG capital funding 

schemes, a co funding approach may be required between the DHPLG and DoH to cover the costs of 

communal and community spaces such as training rooms, day care if included, health care rooms, 

community rooms. 

 

Recommendation 14: The pilot project will have a brief for community development with respect 

to older people living within the project and within a defined area of the 

development. Within the first year of the life of the scheme an Age Friendly 

Towns programme will be introduced in the area. 

 

14.   Definition of Older Person 
An older person for the purpose of Housing with Support are generally persons of 55 years of age or 

over, however the Housing with Support scheme will also consider the following under the definition.  

• Couples where one person is aged 55 or over and the other is 50 or over. 

• Single persons aged 50 or over where priority for such accommodation is awarded on medical 

and/or exceptional social grounds. 

 

15.   Eligibility for the Scheme 
For the prototype scheme: 

• Basic referral criteria: (as per definition – adapted from DCC Housing Allocations Scheme 2013) 

o Single people and couples over the age of 55 

o Couples where one person is aged 55 or over and the other is 50 or over  

o Where older person due to medical and/or exceptional social grounds requires specialist 

adapted housing  

o Living in DCC catchment area 

• Additional referral criteria:  

o On the local authority housing list with an identified housing need or qualify under DCC 

Housing Allocations Scheme 2013* 

o Inter- transfers as per DCC Housing Allocation Scheme 2013* 

o In private accommodation and qualify for social housing 

o Owners of private dwellings in the administrative area of DCC who are over 55 and who 

find their existing dwelling too large for their needs 

o Be at risk of moving to residential care within one year if current level of support is not 

increased 

o Required housing adaptations are unfeasible in their current home. 

o People who have been placed in nursing home care due to absence of choice but who 

could live successfully in housing with support. 

 

(*) For the purpose of this project persons who have moved into social housing within the last 

2 years will be considered where there have been medical and/or exceptional social grounds in an 

individual’s life which means they can no longer live independently in their current accommodation 

without supports. 

 

16.  Referral and application process 
A referrals board comprising representatives of some or all of DCC, HSE, AHB and a care and support 

provider, will develop an appropriate allocations and referrals process. The housing provider will 

ensure that allocation and referrals process is transparent and is sensitive to the DCC Housing 

Allocation Policy 2013 and the HSE’s Single Assessment Tool (SAT). 

 

 

Page 52



 17

Recommendation 15: A referrals board is established that will work with the AHB to set the 

allocations model and oversee the referrals process into the scheme. The 

voice of Older People 

 

17.   The voice of Older People 
As part of the process in developing the proposed prototype a series of workshops where held with 

Older People and Staff from Dublin City Council (Housing and Community Departments) HSE and 

NGOs. The views shared by these two groups will be taken into consideration when a detailed brief is 

being developed and will form part of the basis for ‘Expressions of Interest’ / ‘design brief’ to be 

addressed by the developing housing body, see recommendation 2 and appendix 3.  

 

18.  Evaluation 
It is proposed that the prototype project be independently evaluated. This evaluation process will 

work closely with the pilot phase to carry out a comprehensive mining of data and programme 

evaluation specific to the requirements of the key funders, DHPCLG and HSE.  

 

The independent evaluator will be equipped with the necessary skills and supports to analyse large 

scale datasets and assess new data alongside existing normative data from programmes such as 

TILDA and HaPAI.  The evaluator will work with the housing and supports provider and key partners 

such as the HSE and Local Authority to identify and measure against agreed specific metrics that will 

profile the effectiveness of the pilot in relation to socio-demographics, physical, mental and cognitive 

health, social participation, quality of life, physical activity, economic and transport patterns.  

 

The cost of the evaluation will be built into the scheme costs and will assist the DHPCLG and DoH in 

assessing its significance and adaptability nationwide.  See recommendation 6. 

 

19.   Costings 
As part of the joint department collaborative approach a joint submission will be submitted for 

funding at both the capital and revenue stages. 

   

a. Capital Costs 
This pilot scheme meets one the DHPCLG priority groups – The Older Person - and will provide a blue 

print for further collaboration between DHPCLG and DOH in Dublin and the rest of the country. We 

therefore recommend that adequate capital funding is ring-fenced for development of this pilot 

scheme which would take account of the principles and specifications of the scheme that go beyond 

current funding schemes to deliver housing for older persons.  

 

It should be noted that the project is not intended to provide residential or nursing home care. 

Independent living is at the core of its ethos and this will be reflected in its design and service 

delivery. 

 

b. Revenue costs 
The ongoing annual revenue cost of the project will be covered through a mix of funding, namely; 

rental income, service charges (Level 3 supports) funding from the HSE under Service Level 

Agreement (Level 4 & 5 supports) and other funding yet to be identified. A detailed revenue budget 

will form part of the proposal submitted by the AHB to the key funders such as the HSE with support 

from the DHPCLG.  

 

 

  

Page 53



 18

 

Conclusion  
The challenge to respond to the creation of socially engaged communities for older people is being 

met by the coming together of motivated members of this HWG to join their skills, insights and 

expertise across different sectors to produce this report on “housing with support.” It begins to 

create a space where the person and the design is at one with their surroundings.  The preparation of 

housing with the right kind of support and care will meet the needs of a person experiencing frailty. 

Delivering housing and social care assessments in a person focused way that captures the process of 

enablement and hope. 

 

“Someone will come along and assess me, they then will tick five or six things that define me as 

frail - things affecting my heart, mind, mobility, my breathing, my appetite and my memory - they 

will have this assessment that will tell them I need to be protected, avoid risk, kept an eye on. But I 

would like an opportunity to live in my place, with my books and music, with people I like and 

some whom I love - who will know when to talk and when to stay quiet. I would like that place to 

be where I can be myself, I would like that place designed to be a gathering place and a place of 

contentment and a place of aloneness. A place where I can be as independent as I can be and 

dependent when I have to be.” 

This report relies on the expertise of the members of the working group, the experience of older 

people and is influenced by the work of Age Friendly Ireland’s submission to the Housing Action Plan 

2016 and the work already done by AHBs. This prototype is endeavouring to create places of 

belonging, homes where all of human interaction takes place.  Home for life where the various ways 

the older person is supported are crucial to kind of design that is created. This is the beginning of a 

process that is open to be influenced by the personal experience of older people. 

Pat Doherty 

Dublin City Age Friendly Programme’s, Housing Working Group 

September 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



 19

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 
  

Page 55



 20

Appendix 1: full membership of key groups 

Dublin City Age Friendly Alliance 

Jane Williams Independent Chair 

Eugene Bent Director – Member Development  

Dublin Chamber of Commerce 

Conor Hickey Director 

Crosscare 

Brendan Kenny Dublin City Council 

Acting Chief Executive 

Prof Rose Anne Kenny Head of Department of Medical Gerontology 

Trinity College Dublin 

Prof. Brian MacCraith President 

Dublin City University 

Hugh O Connor CEO 

Age Friendly Ireland 

Martina Queally Chief Officer 

HSE Community Healthcare Organisation, Area 6  

Mr John Twomey Deputy Commissioner 

An Garda Siochána  

 

Housing Working Group membership 

Maurice O Connell  Independent Chair 

Pat Doherty Age Friendly Ireland 

Oonagh Ryan Age Friendly Ireland / OPRAH 

Barry Quinlan Department of Environment, Community and Local 

Government. 

Barry Murphy Department of Health 

Niall Money Dublin City Council, Age Friendly Programme Office / Social 

Inclusion 

Celine Reilly Dublin City Council, Housing 

Samantha Rayner HSE, Social Care Division 

Anne Kearney HSE Community Healthcare Organisation, Area 7 

Mary Walshe HSE Community Healthcare Organisation Area 9 

Caren Gallagher Irish Council for Social Housing 

Sean Moynihan NGO - ALONE 

Page 56



 21

Appendix 2 – components of mapping  

 

Below is a list of items that are included in the mapping exercise in Dublin City.  

Item 

Housing location maps 

• Local Authority Housing older people schemes 

• AHB housing older people schemes 

• Health Care centres (not PHC) 

• Primary Health Care Centres 

• GPs 

• GP Out-of-hours service 

• Hospitals  

• Nursing Homes (public) 

• Nursing Homes (Private) 

• Gardaí Stations 

• Post Offices 

• Planned Health facilities to be opened or built in next year – 2 years 

Heat Maps Age 

• 55 – 65 

• 65+ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



 22

 

Appendix 3 Appendix 3 Appendix 3 Appendix 3 ----    WorkshopsWorkshopsWorkshopsWorkshops    

    

 

 

‘Housing with support’ 

Workshops 

Older People & Housing and Healthcare Staff 

 

Introduction  

As part of the Dublin City Age Friendly Housing Working Group (HWG) two workshops where held on the 13th 

and 17th June 2016 

 

The purpose of the workshops were  

1. To gather the views of older people as to what they feel is needed in an appropriate model of supported 

housing that will best enable them to remain in their homes for as long as possible. 

2. To gather the views and experiences from staff (DCC, HSE and NGOs) as to what they feel would enable 

older people to remain living in their own homes in the community for as long as possible.  

The workshops concentrated on the following four broad areas; 

I. The housing Unit – what should be included in the design (their homes) 

II. The immediate environment outside their homes – internal and external communal / circulation  areas 

III. Assisted technology – the role and potential for assisted technology 

IV. Social and care support needs – what supports are needed 

The views from older people and staff who attended the two workshops will be used in a report to be 

submitted to Department of Environment, the Department of Health, Dublin City Council and the HSE. It will 

also form part of an ‘Expression of Interest’ document to be issued to interested housing bodies for the 

development of a detailed submission for funding both capital and revenue.  

In total 41 staff and 30 older people attended the workshop (see appendix 1). 

Older People’s views in brief 

Older people strongly welcomed the aspirations of the HWG. Their views are recorded in this document below. 

There was a general sense amongst the older people that the term ‘sheltered housing’ held negative 

connotations for them and would like to see another term developed to address this negative image. 

They stressed the importance of social and care supports in their lives, being appreciative of the value of 

support staff, Housing Liaison Officers – DCC, and the social care supports provided by Alone, RHD and others. 

These supports are not required all the time but should be available for older people as their needs increase. 

Staff views in brief 

Staff from all organisations saw the potential new prototype as a positive step and welcomed the chance to 

contribute. They felt that a scheme of between 30 – 40 units would work better though they understood that 

in the first instance the scheme might be larger to justify economies of scale 

 

The issue of age range was raised with the DCC Senior citizens age limit 55 years + (On medical priority can be 

reduced to 50 years). Staff felt there was a big age difference between a 50 year old and 80 year old and this 

Page 58



 23

 

 

 

 

 

1) What older people said. 
 

 

What 3- 4 things would help you remain staying in your community for longer? 

The list below covers the main feedback that was recorded as what the older participants felt 

would make a positive difference for them to remain living independently in their homes and 

community.  

 

• Access to a second bedroom, if sick or a shared unit on the complex for overnights. 

• Lifts where accommodation is on multiple floors 

• Larger living spaces to allow for a wheelchair 

• Storage space to allow for wheelchair/frames etc. 

• Accommodation that is adaptable to meet our needs and that is adapted in a timely fashion 

• Good connectivity – broadband, phone lines and Internet 

• Access to good transport links (bus or rail) near accommodation. 

• Closer to shops (a good choice of shops), post office, banks, GPs 

• Access to assistance with housework when I cannot manage it anymore 

• Support and information when needed. Assistance in filling out forms especially from utility 

providers 

• Access to maintenance and odd jobs around the house and garden 

• Camaraderie with peers and neighbours 

• Health supports, when and if needed 
 

Page 59



 24

What’s good about where you live, that helps you stay independent – what’s important to 

you 

Location? 

Location was an important factor for older participants. In one of the schemes that people 

where from, they had everything required within a short walking distance. Others had to walk 

long distance to services as well as encounter steps to get into services.  

 

People felt it should be near the following 

• Shops, - getting out to the shops and meeting people is very important to them. 

• Post office  

• Church, is vital for them and where they live now.  

• Transport options  

• Community and family was also indicated as been most important.  

Community integration 

Been integrated with the wider community is important. Not having homes in gated 

communities or away from shops and the community 

 

Housing - Their home 

Participants felt that internally their homes should be of level access, larger rooms, with plenty 

of storage, floor boards and tiles in kitchen and bathroom, no open fires or storage heaters.  

For some people their current accommodation was not ideal as they are  living in bedsits with 

very little space 

 

They felt the following should be considered; 

• Housing on ground floor or have access to a lift if on multiple floors. 

• A kitchen with a view – not facing other apartments. 

• Furnished/unfurnished - should have the choice 

• Kitchen with space for dining, oven at a higher height. Also need space in kitchen to sit down 

to monitor cooking. In some cases kitchens are purely a workspace which can presents a fire 

hazard, if they are forced to sit in a separate room while waiting for cooking to complete. 

• Positioning of kitchen closer to front door than the living space could trap residents in the 

housing unit if a kitchen fire occurred as some units do not have back door exits. 

• Living room, separate to kitchen / dining room that is large enough for pull down bed to 

accommodate family or carers if living in a one bedroom unit. 

• Bathroom should be of a wet room construction 

• Private outdoor space – that is of low maintenance 

 

Communal facilities 

• Access to a community area and activity rooms for services – PHN, chiropody, hairdresser, 

activities, meals, reading/quite room 

 

sense of community 

• One person talked about creating a community feeling and gave an example of where one of 

his neighbours had died and he only found out 2 weeks later. He would have liked to have 

paid his respects to the man. 

 

Safety and security 

Participants felt that safety and security was very important in the design and location of a 

scheme. All participants think that feeling safe allows them to live better lives. Consideration 

should be given to the following 

• Good neighbours and family supports 

• Good relationships with support staff – one person in a wheelchair talked about his home 

Page 60



 25

help who goes for beyond her role in helping out and involves her family, if this was not the 

case his life would be a lot more difficult and lonely 

• Knowing there is someone there to call for if you need help - an on-site presence,  

• Security CCTV is important 

• Gates,  

• Security chain and latches for windows and doors, spy hole/intercom 

• Having an alarm  

 

Assisted Technology 

• Technology needs to be extremely user-friendly & training must be provided as some of the 

group were unfamiliar with technology and were sceptical about its ability to assist. 

 

External environment 

All participants recognised the value of external spaces and when well designed would enable 

activities to happen, meeting other people and lent to the overall aesthetics of the place giving a 

pride to there they live; 

• Having a garden was seen as been positive. It is however difficult to maintain a garden. One 

participant got rid of the grass as it’s easier. Looking at something outside flowers is nice 

• All agreed having an outdoor space was good for a person and their health. Gardens with 

raised beds and seating dispersed throughout, so they can garden themselves and rest 

outdoors 

• Issues around footpaths (a lot of them are broken and dangerous) and dog faeces was 

frequently raised 

• There were mixed views around the scheme been gated or not, the wish to reduce the 

instances of anti-social behaviour happening on site.  

• External painting should be every 5 years not 7 as per DCC policy. 

• Maintenance and odd jobs service available 

 

Age mix within the housing scheme 

Mixing with other age groups is important. We all enjoy spending time with younger people. In 

one centre there is a crèche onsite. However care needs to be given when allocating people to 

schemes so that there is not a huge over concentration of complex needs in any one scheme and 

that staff have the required support skills to support complex needs. 

 

It was raised by some that a wide mix of ages can lead to challenges as the needs and 

requirements of a 55 year old are very different to those of an 85 year old. It needs to recognise 

that the service is not one where ‘one size fits all’. 

 

Age of older people goes from 55 – up to 104 years old. Older People are very diverse 

 

Page 61



 26

Supports-are they important? What extra supports would help you as you get older? 

All participants said that ‘supports’ are essential for them and saw this more and more 

important as they age. They felt more community involvement is very important, this should be 

supported and facilitated. Participants did not want things done for them but that they should 

be made available when and if needed. 

 

The participant described services they use as:  

• Day Centres,  

• Doctor and Public Health Nurse,  

• Meals on Wheels  

• Family supports 

• Local Centre for Independent Living 

• Local services and organisations  

 

Information 

The participants raised concerns about how to get information about services, feeling in general 

such information is not readily available, ‘you have to ask a lot to find out about what you can 

get’.  

 

Older people find out about services they use from their local church, hospitals, and friends. 

Some people felt that community supports have decreased over the years, some faculties being 

utilised and other not.  

 

 

 

Day Centres 

The majority of the participants attend a day centre and they all love going to them. They really 

enjoy the interaction, the friends they meet there and in general they are good fun. It’s a huge 

support to them and the staff are very helpful and knowledgeable. They do exercises here and 

get a lovely hot meal for only €5. Some felt that some older people may be too proud to look for 

and use day centres.  

 

Health care supports 

Older people felt access to good health supports is important; 

• Extra care support when needed 

• Home helps 

• Doctors 

• Other health care professionals (OT, PH PHN etc.) 

 

Some of the people had little concern for current or future care supports needs. None of the 

group envisioned a time when they might require medium level ‘medical care’ supports. 

Participants were critical of the HSE’s focus on medical efficiency and bureaucracy and the lack 

of ‘compassion’ on the part of medical services. 

 

Weekend shortfall in service provision 

A lot of the participants highlighted that a lot of services (e.g. Meals on Wheels) are only 

available Mon – Fri. What happens to people over their weekends? These services should be 

available 24/7.  

 

Family supports 

Some older people said that their family supports where very important. For others where there 

was no family this was not the case and they had limited supports outside of formal supports. 

Page 62



 27

 

Older people felt the following should be included in a scheme design supports wise; 

• Call system (24/7 response) 

• Regular check in calls -  

• Someone available who can signpost them to services 

• Onsite at set periods to assist in signposting 

• Access to maintenance for small jobs, a person on site would be helpful to assist with bins, 

gardens etc. 

• Meals on wheels 

• A range of activities in complex 

• Linking into other services / activities in area 

• Linking into relevant professionals in area (PHN / OT / PT) 

• Assist in accessing HCP / MH 

• Ensure getting entitlements and benefits 

• Assist in financials 

• Home Helps cleaning services (option rather than mandatory) 

• Near local bus or access to community bus 

• Assistance with shopping 

• Laundry – option of assistance given with laundry whether in individual homes or in a 

communal area.  

• Access to independent home care packages if required for tenants 

• Help with getting up and into bed, with washing and other things they find harder as they 

age. 

• Assisted technology only if needed 

Page 63



 28

Biggest concerns about how suitable your home is at the moment to meet your needs as 

you get older 

 

Concerns now and into the future 

Many of the participants biggest concerns lay in how suitable their homes where if their health 

and mobility decreased. As with most older people in Ireland they want to remain living in their 

homes and their communities. However they acknowledge that their ability will decline and 

they want places and supports in place to counter this. Some of the comments and suggestions 

where 

• Accessibility within their homes - No access to a lift – only stairs – this will become more of 

an issue as we age. If stairs / steps can a ramp be installed.  

• Accessibility in local environment – a good age friendly public realm is essential allowing for 

people to get out and about – pathing, routes to shops etc. 

• Currently too far away from services, if mobility deteriorates 

• Hard to get assistance to help with domestic work 

• Limited space for wheelchair/frame 

• No room to have someone stay over if I am sick 

• Been able to open windows  

• Having enough storage downstairs  

• One participant is a-full time carer. So has an accessible bathroom but worried about her 

daughter who has special needs.  

• Having a ramp installed to front door 

• Security – low walls, need external lights  

• A lot of the participants use a mobile phone with no interest in the internet 

• Cost of heating and cost of living – e.g. the cost of broadband and internet is prohibitive. 

• Maintenance and cost of repairs – many older people living on their own feel that they are 

ripped off by builders and maintenance people and find it hard to stand up for themselves. 

One female home owner had a bad experience with trades’ people and found care and repair 

staff. They found it expensive at €10 an hour, due to her houses disrepair, inability to pay 

and poor workmanship they felt disadvantaged by owning a home. She also felt less secure 

in her home, this was at odds with the rest of the group 

• Isolation and loneliness even when being in a community setting – need supports in scheme 

and community to feel part of it. 

• Adaptability of homes going into the future as needs increase 

• Staff awareness of disability awareness needs is important 

• Antisocial behaviour – drug dealing, fear of strangers 

• Dampness and darkness are issues in some existing older peoples accommodation 
 

  

Page 64



 29

2) What staff said 

 

 

Location requirements? 

It was agreed on the following as prerequisites with regards ‘location’, for a successful ‘Housing 

with Support’ model of housing that will promote independence and the chances of older people 

remaining to live independently in their communities as long as possible 

 

Location of housing schemes needs to be near the following: 

• Services that are used on a weekly basis - staff defined them as; 

o Retail outlets - Shops, Chemists, 

o Essential services – Post Office  

o Primary health services – GPs, PHC Centres, PCT 

o Social – Pub,  

o Spiritual, - Churches  

• Community, family and friends 

• Transport routes: schemes should be located with easy access to main transport routes that 

enable older people to get out and about, in particular 

o Get to hospitals / health clinics for appointments. 

o Getting into main urban town centres 

• Other 

o Churches and other religious centres 

o Pubs and other community and social centres 

 

It was further felt that housing schemes should not be located near or under the following 

circumstances 

• Near schools 

• On top of steep hills 

• On busy roads 

 

Safety was a big concerned raised by people though there was mixed views on whether the 

schemes should be gated or not gated 

 

  

Page 65



 30

Physical Layout requirements? 

Housing units (homes): 

It was felt the universal design guidelines were very good and should be used as a minimum 

standard. Homes should be fully accessible and should be built with the capacity to upgrade or 

make changes as needs of older person increase.  

 

The design should incorporate the following; 

• Ground floor if possible but where two or more floors are used then lifts (the number of lifts 

used should be considered in terms of density of build) that can accommodate for stretchers 

is essential.  

• Doors throughout should not be too heavy and have handles that are easy to use and push 

button controls available for wheelchair users.  

• Windows should also be easy to open and close with easy access to handles. 

• Corridors should be wide enough to allow for wheelchair and movement of large furniture. 

• Kitchens should be easy to access and wheelchair friendly and non-slip flooring. They should 

include the following; 

o height adjustable counters with plenty of counter space 

o easy open presses / drawers (not too deep) 

o washing machine and dryer 

o Plenty of storage 

 

• Dining area – this can be incorporated into the kitchen area but should be separate from 

sitting room / living room. 

o Dining chairs easy to push under table 

o Room for wheelchair access around table and under table. 

• Bedrooms should be of a good size that are adequate to accommodate a double bed or two 

single ones (one being a bariatric bed) and still have adequate room for wheelchair 

manoeuvring. Rooms should also accommodate the following;  

o Non slip flooring 

o Easy access to switches, sockets and TV point 

o Ensuite or have the bathroom near. 

o Ceilings should be strong enough to facilitate hoist tracking being installed when and 

if needed in future. 

Some of the groups felt that there is a need for 2 bedrooms or at least a sitting room with a 

space for a good fold down bed for carers (formal and informal) who may need to stay 

overnight as care needs increase in a one bedroom home. 

• Bathroom should be of a wet room construction. The construction should allow for the 

facility for grab rails (fluted design) to be installed at a later date where not required 

initially. In addition; 

o Flooring should be tiled not lino 

o Space for shower seat 

o Shower thermostat 

• Living and sitting room space is essential. Where possible the living rooms space should be 

separate to the kitchen dining area, especially in one bedroom homes. This rooms should 

allow for space to: 

o A space for people to be able to bring some of their own personal belongings. 

o Higher level seating 

o Space for wheelchair and other seating  

• A space for scooters with docking station for charging. This can either be internal or external 

(if the latter a covered area - see below under external areas section) but if within homes 

then this could be incorporated within a wide hallway.  

• Key safes should be installed outside doors to homes, for carers and family to get access in 

case of emergency or for staff to get access. 

Page 66



 31

• Storage is very important – particularly if occupants are moving form bigger houses.  

• Energy efficiency measures should be incorporated into the design to allow for cheaper bills 

- solar panels and easy to use control panels. The use of a ‘one switch’ as you exit the 

accommodation was also suggested though this should exclude appliances such as fridges 

and freezers 

• Universal design – electrics and heating - sockets, lighting, door saddles and underfloor 

heating should be included in buildings.  Communal heating works better, some people 

under-heat their homes unless the heating is communal. 

• Decoration, facilities should be put in place that allows for homes to be regularly 

redecorated. A pay-in scheme where people can contribute over a number of years towards 

decoration. 

 

External areas: 

Common areas where raised as been important in the design. These should be within internal 

building communal spaces as well as external garden / court room’s spaces. The layout of the 

housing should be cognisant of light and it was suggested that the scheme be designed in a semi-

circle so you can see each other’s doors. 

• Internal circulation spaces should include the following; 

o Wide corridors 

o Handrails 

o No or minimal steps 

o Community spaces / services should be built into the design to accommodate the 

following; 

� Community room – meals activities, exercises, community groups 

� Library (tenants leave books) 

� Space for people to get together and socialise, chat (this is critical to address 

isolation and loneliness. 

� Training space – computers and other technology, arts and crafts and lifelong 

learning education. 

� Kitchenette area – independent use for tea/coffee 

� Nurse / GP consultation room that also accommodates visits from other 

healthcare professionals such as Chiropodist, etc. 

� Hairdresser 

• External spaces were seen as being important for aesthetics and for encouraging people to 

get outside and active. Tenants should have scope, and be encouraged, to be involved in the 

management and development of the external areas. The following should be considered in 

the design; 

o Raised bed for garden (flowers and veg) 

o Seating areas / adapted raised seating and at regular intervals 

o Low maintenance private outdoor spaces 

o No trees (leaves can cause falls and slips) and the wrong trees’ roots also can in long 

term cause surface areas to lift / buckle.   

o Each home where possible should have a private garden space. Tenants should have 

individual choice as to whether private outdoor spaces should have grass or not 

• Parking spaces to allow for people who still drive as well for family visiting and for services 

coming in to assist in everyday living  

• Campus type facilities – highlighted as a good example. Where people can live on site and 

progress if an illness takes hold e.g. dementia. Other participants expressed concerns about 

optics of this and of the residents been cut off from society and community  

• The question of gated schemes was raised and there were seen to be as many minuses to 

pluses in their use 

• If docking space not possible within homes then space such as lock ups down stairs where 

motorised scooters could be parked and charged to save space up stairs 

Page 67



 32

It was also advised that when the scheme is being developed the access to services in the 

surrounding areas should be assessed and recommendations made as to improvements to assist 

older people when out and about in the public realm. A number of tools and guidance have been 

developed by Age Friendly Ireland and NDA (Walkability Audits) and ‘Being Friendly in the 

Public Realm’. This will address items such as dips in the paths for wheelchairs, traffic lights 

should be put in etc. 

 

Page 68



 33

Support requirements? 

Social and care supports where felt as been essential in a new model of housing by staff from all 

agencies. Is was stressed that these supports need to be consistent and clear. Many shared the 

opinion that the development of a pilot model that would bring together housing and social and 

care funding would be very beneficial for all. A new housing  model where supports where 

coordinated and provided onsite would address many issues such as  

• Reduced home care packages in the community,  

• Reduced scope in what supports can be provided,  

• Time allocation been driven by rostering challenges of supporting people living is divers 

settings.  

• Lack of continuity of care provision – people receiving support from multiple cares and 

providers, 

• Challenges in recruiting carers 

 

The ethos of the scheme needs to be one where we are encouraging people to get out and about 

and to keep involved in their community and involved in local services. Care need to be taken 

that people don’t become dependent on the supports before they are needed. Choice should 

always paramount. 

 

Supports should incorporate the following; 

• All tenants should be given a tenancy that lays out what services they get within rental 

charge and what additional services are available to add onto support package if their needs 

increase – individual choice is essential here. 

• Regular check in calls -  this could either be onsite at regular times or 24/7 preferable 

• Three was a strong feeling that a 24/7 presence was desirable as this would cater for 24/7 

emergencies – falls, sudden health deterioration etc. 

• Signposting people to mainstream and other services both in the scheme and within the 

wider community / area – e.g. health (PCT, PHCC, OT, PT) social (day care, active retirement 

groups etc.). Accessibility of information or lack of it is often an issue, particularly for people 

who may not have used the public system/Council/Health before. How do they find out who 

tells them. A signposting service would address this 

• Care supports normally delivered by Home care packages should be part of support levels, 

however additional supports from Enhanced HC Packages should be available where care 

needs are higher than the scheme can cater for with in-house team. 

• Supports need to be flexible – being delivered when older people want and need them rather 

than being dictated by HH rostering 

• Support in cleaning and maintaining homes though this was felt should be optional rather 

than mandatory – people could buy in support as part of support levels offered 

• Visits from GP and other health care professionals to be incorporated especially for those 

tenants who have reduced mobility. 

• Close links with hospitals, in cases where tenants are hospitalised, to ensure that when being 

discharged that scheme is informed of discharge plan. 

• Need to encourage and facilitate family involvement – be careful that family take on 

responsibility for supports and don’t see it as the sole responsibility of the service provider. 

‘out of sight out of mind’ 

• Access to maintenance services for small jobs as physical ability declines 

• Meals on wheels or an in-house catering facility – café, restaurant etc. If part of the service 

provided then design and delivery should be one where it is not seen as a  negative feeding 

into stigma associated with receiving meals and stereotypes with old age 

• There was mixed view on the provision of communal Laundry rooms. For some it was a good 

idea but felt that a policy is needed around use of the laundry room, to avoid abuse, Pay a 

token amount like the prescription. Others felt that older people should have the facilities 

Page 69



 34

themselves in homes and supported to do so if and when frailty increases. 

• Option of communal eating or collect meal and bring it back to the apartment. 

• Activities in complex 

• Support in accessing and getting entitlements and benefits 

• Financial advice  

• Assistance with shopping 

• Laundry – option of assistance given with laundry whether in individual homes or in a 

communal area.  

• A quiet space to meet their spiritual needs, especially if they develop or have mobility needs 

• Community awareness raising – the scheme should work with local services and business to 

be responsive to the needs of older people living there and in the wider community.  

• Establish links with local pharmacy in order to delivery medication. 

 

Tenant mix - Homelessness is a massive issue – the participants have been told to prioritise 

people with severe addictions. This is having a detrimental effect of housing schemes where a 

large number of older people with complex support needs are being housed in older people’s 

schemes leading to other tenants having fears about safety and anti-social behaviours. Schemes 

need to be able to support people with complex needs but a good mix is essential – should not 

be a dumping ground. 

 

Also allocation needs to be mindful of cultural and gender mix of tenants. One contributor had 

an example of a development with 29 male tenants and one woman, which has problems and is 

poorly kept. 

 

Technology requirements? 

Assisted technology was seen by most staff as been a positive addition to housing for older 

people, however we need to make sure it is relevant and that tenants are able and educated in 

how to use it. It was felt that the scheme should have broadband as a core element in its design.  

 

Some of the examples of technology that could be used where;  

• Basic technology - easy to use, such as pendant alarms, mobiles. Many schemes use this 

already e.g. McKee Court and very successfully. Easy to overcome negative perceptions in 

older people of how to use and benefits. 

• Dementia friendly assisted technology – door sensors, watch for tracking wondering etc. 

• Fobs on door – accurate type of devises (tremors) 

• CCTV in internal and external communal areas for security 

• Sensors – light, falls, doors and windows etc. 

• Automotive technology, allowing people to adjust temp, open windows from chair where 

mobility is limited  

 

The consensus seemed to be technology can be great but it is critical that we get that balance 

right between using technologies as a tool but mindful in retaining human interaction. Some 

users have psychological needs and enjoy talking to people. If use properly it can assist scheme 

in spotting changes in life of older person and assist in directing the person support and care 

plan. 

Peoples (staff and older people) use of technology is increasing. There is need for training on the 

use of assisted technology in order to ensure that the most is made of it by older people and that 

staff can use it to assist in support and care plans. 

 

Broadband – most participants felt that tenants should pay for it themselves if they want it. 

From their experience most of their users do not use the internet.  

 

Page 70



 35

Tenancy Management issues 

One some of the tables staff shared the following issues, in particular with regards to DCC 

housing and tenancies 

• Relook at the model of 40 years ago, it would work if people were obliged to mind their flats 

• Downstairs flats are not available, so if people develop mobility problems, instead of being 

able to get a transfer easily they have to go back on the list 

o DCC allocation methods should prioritise existing tenants needing accessible flats, 

either with lifts or a flat at ground level. 

o Allocation model, where people could trade in their house for an accessible flat is 

gone and should be reinstated 

• Bedsits, people should get priority for move locally, if tenants are a long time in a bedsit, 

they should be allowed a flat before new tenants get one. 

• Tenants in a new property are not allowed move for two years, this is hard on people if their 

new home is no longer suitable due to sudden change in their abilities. 

• People should be responsible for their own units, not just depending on the HSE / DCC for 

repair and upkeep – take responsibility of their home 

• Too lenient on bad tenants – need to be proactive in managing tenants who are not abiding 

by tenancy. 

 

Examples of existing schemes in Dublin 

• Heskin Court, is excellent and has all a lot of good feature that support older people in living 

independently, but with limited supports. 

• Ballygall is managed by Fold, Very big apartments, where two apartments were knocked 

into one in a refurbishment project. The women like them but the men say they are too big.  

o They miss being visited as they used to be, even one visit a week helps 

o They are lonely, the day centre is smaller and they are not introduced to new people. 

o They are angry that they are only contacted with their bills for rent. 

o Not welcome in the day room.  

• Ballybough, need green space in the current development, raised beds for gardening work 

well 

• NCR development, - no communal space and much less sense of community 

• Outdoor gyms work well in Shankill and Sandymount, brings people in from the outside to 

use the equipment or to take part in community events. 

 
  

Page 71



 36

Older people workshop 

Dublin City Council’s housing tenants 11 

Approved Housing Body 14 

Owner occupied homes 5 

  

Total 30 

 

 

 

Staff work shop 

Dublin City Council’s housing, welfare and community teams 16 

 

HSE older people services, community PCT staff, OTs etc. 14 

Alone 5 

Royal Hospital Donnybrook 3 

AFI 4 

  

Total 42 
 

 

  

Page 72



 37

 

 

Appendix 4 - DCC Housing and Transfer waiting list August 2016  

 

Housing Waiting list figures by Band Category as of August 2016 

Housing Waiting List  

Band 2 Housing Older 385 

Band 3 Housing Older 857 

Total Band 2 and 3 grand total 1242 

  

Housing Waiting List  

Housing Medical Priority 45 

Housing Welfare Priority  22 

Total Medical and welfare Priority grand total 67 

  

Combined Housing Waiting List and Priority List 1309 

 

Transfer Waiting list figures by Band Category as of April 2016 

Transfer Waiting List  

Band 2 transfer Older 327 

Band 3 transfer Older 446 

Total Band 2 and 3 grand total 773 

  

Transfer Waiting List  

Transfer Medical Priority 38 

Transfer Welfare Priority  22 

Total Medical and welfare Priority grand total 60 

  

Combined Transfer Waiting List and Priority List 833 

 

Combined Housing and Transfer Waiting Lists for over 55s DCC as of April 2016 

Combined Housing waiting list 1309 

Combined Transfer waiting list 833 

  

Combined Housing Waiting List and Priority List 2142 

 

Page 73



 38

Appendix 5: phase 1B site at Inchicore 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



 39

 

Appendix 6 - Table of Services and approximate distance from the site in Inchicore 

 

Table of services and approximate distances from site  Distance (kms) 

Health Services  

Primary health Care Centre 0.06 

Community Health Centre (same as above) 0.06 

GP’s  (GP’s in Primary Care Centre) 0.06 

Pharmacy 0.49 

St James Hospital  (LUAS line runs to the hospital) 1.3 

Shopping district (Inchicore Village)   

Eurospar, Tesco 0.41 

Butchers 0.50 

Post Office (Eurospar) 0.41 

ATM  (Eurospar) 0.41 

Community services/ Other  

Community Centre (St Michaels Parish Community Centre, Bulfin Road) 0.18 

Hairdressers 0.20 

St Michaels RC Church 0.18 

Garda Station (Kilmainham) 1.2 

Pubs 0.41 

Transport  

Buses, Emmet Road - buses 0.33 

LUAS (Golden Bridge) 0.35 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75



 40

 

Appendix 7 – Age Friendly Cities and Counties Survey (HaPAI 2016) 

Age Friendly Cities and Counties Survey (2016): Dublin City Housing  

Prepared by the Healthy and Positive Ageing Initiative (HaPAI), July 2016 

Overview  

The following tables describe the responses of adults aged 55+ in Dublin City to questions about housing 

problems, housing supports they need, and their attitude to future housing options, which were asked as 

part of the Age-friendly Cities and Counties Survey  (AFCC)  in 2015-2016.  Results are presented for two 

different age groups (55-69 and 70+) and for the total sample.  Gender differences were not observed in 

the results, with the exception of problems with housing upkeep.  Gender differences are presented for 

this issue only.  

About the survey  

The target population for this survey included all community-dwelling members of the population aged 55 

and older in Dublin City. This sample did not include people aged 55 and older who were in long-term care 

or living in an institution at the time of survey. A multistage random-route sampling strategy was used to 

generate a sample of this population. A total of 502 interviews were conducted in Dublin City in 2016. Each 

participant completed a structured Computer-Assisted Personal Interview (CAPI) in their own home with a 

trained interviewer from Amárach Research. The response rate was 50.4%. Response rates typically vary 

among different groups within a given population such as different age groups or levels of education. This 

variation can lead to biased estimates when reporting results. This analysis included the application of 

sample weights which corresponded to the number of people in the population of Dublin City that were 

represented by each survey participant. Weights which were applied to the survey sample were estimated 

using the Census (2011). The characteristics compared were age, gender, educational attainment 

(primary/secondary/third level) and marital status (married/not married). 

Results  

A total of 62.9% of the sample were aged 55-69 and 37.1% were aged 70+.  The majority (61.5%) reported 

living in the city suburb, 25.9% lived in the inner city, 10.5% live in a town (with a population of 1500+) and 

2.1% reported living in a village. Almost all (96.4%) currently live in a house and 3.6% live in a flat, 

apartment or bedsit. Almost all (91.7%) respondents have lived in their current home for 10 years or more. 

A total of 20% aged 55-69 and 38.7% aged 70+ live alone. More than 3 out of 4 respondents (87%) like 

living in their neighbourhood “a lot”.  

  

Page 76



 41

 Table 1: Housing Problems  

  

Housing Problem Detail  Age 55-69 Age 70+ Total 

Conditions 

Rot in windows doors or floors 4.7 3.5 4.3 

Damp or leaks in walls or roof 11.2 1.9 7.8 

Shortage of space  6.3 1.5 4.6 

Home too big for current needs 5.9 6.1 6.0 

Facilities  

Lack of indoor flushing toilet 2.1 0.9 1.7 

Lack of a bath or shower 0.5 1.4 0.8 

Lack of downstairs toilet/bathroom 

facilities 

14.0 4.7 10.6 

Lack of place to sit outside (e.g. garden 

balcony terrace) 

11.1 6.9 9.6 

Upkeep  

Difficulties with carrying out maintenance 

or upkeep yourself 

14.9 14.7 14.8 

Difficulties with cost of upkeep 16.7 15.4 16.3 

  Male Female Total  

 
Difficulties with carrying out maintenance 

or upkeep yourself 

8.0 20.5 14.8 

 Difficulties with cost of upkeep 10.5 21.1 16.3 

  Age 55-69 Age 70+  Total 

Heating  

Unable to keep home adequately warm in 

the last 12 months 

8.3 8.7 8.4 

Had to go without heating during the last 

12 months through lack of money 

5.9 5.3 5.7 

Source: Age-friendly Cities and County Survey (2016). Prepared by the Healthy and Positive Ageing 

Initiative (HaPAI). Note: Dublin City Sample n=502. Data is weighted (by age, gender, education and 

marital status) to the Census (2011) 

Page 77



 42

 Table 2: Housing Support - Dublin City 

  

Housing Support  Response Age 55-69 Age 70+ Total 

Would like financial assistance with 

bills/upkeep for housing 

Yes 35.6 38.8 36.8 

No 59.0 55.1 57.5 

Don’t know 5.5 6.1 5.7 

Would like financial assistance for 

adaptations or physical improvements 

to house 

Yes 30.2 17.6 25.5 

No 63.9 75.7 68.4 

Don’t know 5.9 6.7 6.2 

Would like non-financial help with 

housing maintenance 

Yes 31.1 28.8 30.2 

No 64.1 66.2 64.9 

Don’t know 4.8 5.0 4.9 

 Male Female Total 

Would like non-financial help with 

housing maintenance 

Yes 22.6 36.7 30.2 

No 72.9 58.1 64.9 

Don’t know 4.5 5.2 4.9 

Source: Age-friendly Cities and County Survey (2016). Prepared by the Healthy and Positive Ageing 

Initiative (HaPAI). Note: Dublin City Sample n=502. Data is weighted (by age, gender, education and 

marital status) to the Census (2011) 

 

Other Counties 

Housing Support Response Age 55-69 Age 70+ Total 

Would like financial assistance with 

bills/upkeep for housing 

Yes 34.5 34.8 34.6 

No 59.7 59.4 59.6 

Don’t know 5.7 5.8 5.8 

Would like financial assistance for 

adaptations or physical improvements 

to house 

Yes 38.8 41.5 39.9 

No 55.9 52.4 54.5 

Don’t know 5.3 6.1 5.6 

Would like non-financial help with 

housing maintenance 

Yes 35.1 38.8 36.5 

No 58.6 54.7 57.1 

Don’t know 6.4 6.5 6.4 

Source: Age-friendly Cities and County Survey (2016). Prepared by the Healthy and Positive Ageing 

Initiative (HaPAI). Note: Dublin City Sample n=502. Data is weighted (by age, gender, education and 

marital status) to the Census (2011) 

Page 78



 43

Table 3: Attitude to Future Housing Options - Survey Question  

 If your home was no longer suitable for you (or your spouse), for example if you were unable to climb stairs 

or you needed additional support in the home, how do you feel about any of the following possibilities? 

 

  

Housing Option  Response Location Age 55-

69 
Age 70+ Total 

Adapting your 

current house to 

your needs 

Dublin City 

Negative Dublin City 3.7 6.2 4.6 

Other counties 11.3 12.1 11.6 

Neither negative 

nor positive 

Dublin City 9.0 4.4 7.3 

Other counties 12 11 11.6 

Positive Dublin City 87.3 89.3 88.1 

Other counties 76.7 77 76.8 

Moving to an 

adapted type of 

housing 

 

Negative Dublin City 60.0 78.1 66.7 

Other counties 51.5 62.2 55.7 

Neither negative 

nor positive 

Dublin City 12.2 7.8 10.6 

Other counties 13.5 11.7 12.8 

Positive Dublin City 27.8 14.2 22.7 

Other Counties 35 26 31.5 

Moving in with 

your children 

Negative Dublin City 70.2 86.7 76.4 

Other counties 66.2 67.1 66.6 

Neither negative 

nor positive 

Dublin City 12.2 7.0 10.3 

Other counties 17.1 15.7 16.6 

Positive Dublin City 17.5 6.3 13.3 

Other counties 16.7 17.1 16.9 

Living together 

with a few other 

older people 

Negative 

 

Dublin City 74.8 88.6 79.9 

Other counties 59.7 66.4 62.3 

Neither negative 

nor positive 

Dublin City 16.3 5.9 12.4 

Other counties 14.6 11.6 13.4 

Positive Dublin City 9.0 5.5 7.7 

Other counties 25.6 22 24.2 

Moving to a 

nursing home 

Negative Dublin City 74.0 87.7 79.1 

Other counties 77.8 81.3 79.2 

Neither negative 

nor positive 

Dublin City 15.5 7.7 12.6 

Other counties 11.3 8.5 10.2 

Positive Dublin City 10.5 4.6 8.3 

Other counties 10.9 10.2 10.6 

Moving in with a 

relative (not 

your children) 

Negative Dublin City 77.6 91.2 82.6 

Other counties 79.4 84.1 81.2 

Neither negative 

nor positive 

Dublin City 14.2 4.9 10.8 

Other counties 10.7 9.1 10.1 

Positive Dublin City 8.3 3.9 6.7 

Other counties 9.9 6.8 8.7 

Source: Age-friendly Cities and County Survey (2016). Prepared by the Healthy and Positive Ageing 

Initiative (HaPAI). Note: Dublin City Sample n=502. Data is weighted (by age, gender, education and 

marital status) to the Census (2011) 

Page 79



Organisational Logos for Housing Working Group Members
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 44

 

 

 

 

Organisational Logos for Housing Working Group Members 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting dated 22nd September 2016 and matters arising
	3 Homeless Update
	4 Housing Programme Report
	5 Housing with Supports for Older People

